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Under the €15,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Prospectus (the “Programme”), each of Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. (“HFL”), Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.
(“HUSFL"), Holcim Finance US LLC (“HFUS”), Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd (“HHFL"), Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. (“HSFN™) and Holcim Ltd, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations
and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the “Notes™) guaranteed by Holcim Ltd (the “Guarantor” or the “Company”) in the case of Notes issued by HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL or HSFN.
The maximum aggregate nominal amount of Notes from time to time outstanding will not at any time exceed €15,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies).

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 16 July 2019 relating to prospectuses for securities
(the “Luxembourg Prospectus Act”), for the approval of this Prospectus. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under the Programme for the period of 12 months from the
date of this Prospectus to be admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Official List”) and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Market™)
except for Notes issued by HHFL. The Market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments. By approving this
Prospectus, the CSSF assumes no responsibility as to the economic or financial soundness of the Notes or the quality and solvency of the Obligors (as defined below).

The CSSF has approved the information contained in this Prospectus relating to HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HSFN and Holcim Ltd. The CSSF assumes no responsibility for the economic and financial soundness
of the transactions contemplated by this Prospectus or the quality or solvency of the Issuers in accordance with Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg Prospectus Act. Pursuant to the Luxembourg Prospectus Act,
the CSSF is not competent to approve prospectuses for the offering to the public or for the admission to trading on regulated markets of money market instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12
months.

This Prospectus has been approved by the CSSF as competent authority under the Luxembourg Prospectus Act and Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus Regulation™). The CSSF only approves this Prospectus as
meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuers or the quality of the Notes that
are the subject of this Prospectus and investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

This Prospectus has been approved as a base prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the Swiss Financial Services Act of 15 June 2018 (as amended, the “FinSA”) by SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd in its capacity as
review body pursuant to article 52 of the FinSA (in such capacity, the “Swiss Review Body”) as of its date. This Prospectus has been approved by the Swiss Review Body for use in connection with the public offering in
Switzerland and/or admission to trading on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland) of Notes issued by either HHFL or Holcim Ltd (together, the
“Swiss Issuers™) only. Accordingly, this Prospectus does not constitute a base prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA, and has not been approved by the Swiss Review Body for use in connection with,
Notes issued by HFL, HUSFL, HFUS or HSFN. In respect of any Tranche of Notes to be issued by a Swiss Issuer during the 12 months from the date of this Prospectus, this Prospectus (as supplemented by any supplements
hereto filed, approved (if applicable) and published in accordance with article 56 of the FinSA and articles 63 to 67 of the Swiss Financial Services Ordinance of 6 November 2019 (as amended, the “FinSO”) as of the
date of the applicable Final Terms), together with the applicable Final Terms, will constitute the prospectus for purposes of the FinSA. Application may be made for admission to trading and listing of any issue of Notes
by a Swiss Issuer on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland). In such case, the relevant Final Terms (as defined herein) in respect of such issue of
Notes will specify that such Notes will be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or such other trading venue in Switzerland). The Swiss Review Body only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the FinSA. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuers or the quality of the Notes that are the subject of this Prospectus and investors should
make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

Any Notes issued by HHFL will be admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland) only and this Prospectus does not
comprise a prospectus or a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Regulation in respect of Notes issued by HHFL.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Prospectus relating to HHFL or in connection with Notes admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other
trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland).

This Prospectus is valid for a period of twelve months from the date of approval to (and including) 3 August 2023, and the obligation to supplement this Prospectus in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes
or material inaccuracies pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, and the obligation to supplement this Prospectus pursuant to article 56 of the FinSA, will not apply when this Prospectus is no longer valid.

HFL, HUSFL, HHFL, HSFN and Holcim Ltd may issue Notes in bearer form, in bearer form exchangeable for registered notes, or in registered form. HFUS may only issue Notes in registered form.

Each Series (as defined herein) of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a “Temporary Global Note™) or a permanent Global Note in bearer form (each a
“Permanent Global Note”). If the Global Notes are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN”) form, the Global Notes will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the
relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream, Luxembourg™).

Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a “Certificate”), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Registered Notes
issued in global form will be represented by registered global certificates (“Global Certificates”). If a Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure (the “NSS”), the Global Certificate will be delivered
on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form (“Classic Global Notes” or “CGNs”)
and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS may (or in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange will) be deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on
behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”).

Notes issued by HFUS will initially be represented by a temporary Global Certificate (each a “Temporary Global Certificate”), without coupons. Beneficial interests in each Temporary Global Certificate may be
exchanged for beneficial interests in a permanent Global Certificate (each a “Permanent Global Certificate”), without coupons after the expiration of the period ending 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche
(the “Distribution Compliance Period”) upon certification that the beneficial owner of such Temporary Global Certificate is not a “U.S. person” as such term is used in Regulation S under the United States Securities
Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) or upon certification that such beneficial owner is a U.S. person who purchased its interest in the Notes in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.
The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Overview of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form”.

As at the date of this Prospectus: (i) the Programme has been rated BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings UK Ltd (“S&P”) and Baal by Moody’s Deutschland GmbH (“Moody’s™), and (ii) the long-term senior obligations of
each of Holcim Ltd, HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN have been rated BBB+ by S&P and Baal by Moody’s. Moody’s is established in the European Union (the “EU™) and registered under Regulation (EC) No
1060/2009 (as amended, the “CRA Regulation™). S&P is not established in the EU but the ratings it has given to the Programme and each of Holcim Ltd, HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN are endorsed by S&P
Global Ratings Europe Ltd, which is established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation. Further information relating to the registration of rating agencies under the CRA Regulation can be found on the website
of the European Securities and Markets Authority. Tranches of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating
assigned to the Programme. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be
subject to supervision, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors” in this Prospectus. The
Prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference herein as set out in “Documents Incorporated by Reference” will be published in electronic form on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu)
and each Issuer (www.holcim.com/bond-documents-emtn). All documents incorporated by reference herein as set out in “Additional Documents Incorporated by Reference” will be published in electronic form on the
website of each Issuer (www.holcim.com/bond-documents-emtn).
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This Prospectus is a base prospectus which comprises five base prospectuses in respect of HFL, HUSFL, HFUS,
HSFN and Holcim Ltd for the purposes of Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation. This Prospectus is a base
prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA with respect to Notes issued by HHFL and Notes
issued by Holcim Ltd. This Prospectus contains information with regard to HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL, HSFN
and Holcim Ltd (each an “Obligor” and together the “Obligors”) and the Guarantor and its consolidated
subsidiaries taken as a whole (together, the “Group” or “Holcim™) which, according to the particular nature of
each Obligor and the Guarantor and the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment
of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Relevant Issuer (as defined
below).

The Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in the Prospectus
is true and accurate in all material respects, and that the Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other
facts the omission of which would in the context of the issue of Notes make any statement herein, whether of
fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect. The Guarantor accepts responsibility for the Prospectus and
the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes under the Programme.

Each of HFL (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the HFL Prospectus regarding HFL, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which is
material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that the HFL
Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the
issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect.
Each of HFL and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HFL Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to
each Tranche of Notes for which HFL is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The HFL Prospectus comprises this
Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled “Holcim US Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim Finance US LLC”, “Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”, “Holcim Sterling Finance
(Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (13) to (15) in the section entitled “General Information” to
the extent that it relates to HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN.

Each of HUSFL (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the HUSFL Prospectus regarding HUSFL, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes,
which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that the
HUSFL Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context
of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material
respect. Each of HUSFL and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HUSFL Prospectus and the Final
Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes for which HUSFL is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The HUSFL
Prospectus comprises this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled
“Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim Finance US LLC”, “Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”, “Holcim
Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (13) to (15) in the section entitled “General
Information” to the extent that it relates to HFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN.

Each of HFUS (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the HFUS Prospectus regarding HFUS, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which
is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that the HFUS
Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the
issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect.
Each of HFUS and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HFUS Prospectus and the Final Terms relating
to each Tranche of Notes for which HFUS is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The HFUS Prospectus comprises
this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”, “Holcim



Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (13) to (15) in the section entitled “General
Information” to the extent that it relates to HFL, HUSFL, HHFL and HSFN.

Each of HHFL (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the HHFL Prospectus regarding HHFL, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which
is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that the HHFL
Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the
issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect.
Each of HHFL and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HHFL Prospectus and the Final Terms relating
to each Tranche of Notes for which HHFL is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The HHFL Prospectus comprises
this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim Finance US LLC”, “Holcim Sterling
Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (13) to (15) in the section entitled “General
Information” to the extent that it relates to HFL, HUSFL, HFUS and HSFN.

Each of HSFN (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the HSFN Prospectus regarding HSFN, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which
is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that the HSFN
Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the
issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect.
Each of HSFN and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HSFN Prospectus and the Final Terms relating
to each Tranche of Notes for which HSFN is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The HSFN Prospectus comprises
this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim Finance US LLC”, “Holcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (13) to (15) in the section entitled “General Information” to the
extent that it relates to HFL, HUSFL, HHFL and HFUS.

Holcim Ltd confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in this Prospectus
regarding the Obligors, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue of
the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that this Prospectus is not misleading and that there are
no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein,
whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect. Holcim Ltd accepts responsibility for the
Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes for which Holcim Ltd is the Relevant Issuer
accordingly.

In this Prospectus, references to the “Issuer” are to either HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL, HSFN or Holcim Ltd,
as the case may be, as the issuer or proposed issuer of Notes under the Programme as specified in the relevant
Final Terms and references to the “Relevant Issuer” shall be construed accordingly and references to the
“Arranger” are to BNP Paribas. BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup Global Markets
Limited, ING Bank N.V., Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH, NatWest Markets Plc, Société Générale, UBS AG
London Branch and UniCredit Bank AG are the dealers under the Programme (together the “Dealers” and each
a “Dealer™).

This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European
Economic Area (the “EEA”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation from the
requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes and any offer of Notes in the United Kingdom will be
made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic
law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “EUWA”) (the “UK Prospectus Regulation™)
from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending
to make an offer in that Member State or the United Kingdom of Notes which are the subject of an offering
contemplated in this Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do



so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation (or the UK Prospectus Regulation, as the case may be) or
supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation (or the UK Prospectus Regulation,
as the case may be), in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Relevant Issuer nor any Dealer has
authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation
arises for the Relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by reference (see
“Documents Incorporated by Reference” and (in relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL (including but not
limited to Notes which are publicly offered in Switzerland and/or with respect to which an application will be
made for admission to trading on the SI1X Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral
trading facility) in Switzerland)) only) “Additional Documents Incorporated by Reference” below).

MIFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any Notes
may include a legend entitled “MiFID Il Product Governance” which may outline the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending any such Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration
the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID
11”) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of such Notes (by either adopting
or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. A determination
will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules
under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”), any Dealer subscribing
for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor
any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any Notes
may include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor should
take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook
Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is
responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or
refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. A determination will
be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules,
any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the
Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK
MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

PRIIPS/ IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes
a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as
defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97
(as amended, the “IDD”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point
(10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation.
Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the
“PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to
any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PRIIPS / IMPORTANT - UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of
any Notes include a legend entitled “Prohibition of Sales to United Kingdom Retail Investors”, the Notes are



not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565
as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; (ii) a customer within the meaning
of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations
made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a
professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of
United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (“UK MIiFIR”); or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined
in Article 2 of the Prospectus Regulation as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the
EUWA (the “UK Prospectus Regulation™). Consequently, no key information document required by the
PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs
Regulation™) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the
United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

NOTES MAY NOT BE A SUITABLE INVESTMENT FOR ALL INVESTORS. Each potential investor in
any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each
potential investor should:

Q) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its
overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant
Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential
investor’s currency;

(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant
indices and financial markets; and

(v)  beable to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic,
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk
or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A
potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise
(either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing
conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the
potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained
in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of the Obligors or any of the Dealers
or the Arranger. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of or any change in the
financial position of any of the Obligors since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been
most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the



Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date
indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted
by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Obligors, the Dealers and the
Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not
be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and include Notes in bearer
form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold
or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and
sales of Notes and on distribution of this Prospectus, see “Subscription and Sale” below. This Prospectus does
not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of any Obligor, the Arranger or the Dealers to subscribe
for, or purchase, any Notes.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001
(2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), unless otherwise specified before an offer of
Notes, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the
SFA), that the Notes are “prescribed capital markets products’ (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and
Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment
Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

In connection with the issue of Sustainability-Linked Notes (as defined herein) under the Programme, the
Relevant Issuer or the Guarantor may request a recognised environmental, social and governance agency to
issue a second party opinion, and Holcim Ltd will engage an External Verifier (as defined herein) to carry out
the relevant assessments required for the purposes of providing a Limited Assurance Report (as defined herein)
in relation to such Sustainability-Linked Notes pursuant to Condition 5(1). Each such second party opinion or
Limited Assurance Report will be accessible through the Group’s website at www.holcim.com. However any
information on, or accessible through, the Group’s website and the information in such opinions or report or
any past or future Limited Assurance Report does not form part of this Prospectus except where that information
has been incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, and should not be relied upon in connection with
making any investment decision with respect to any Notes to be issued under the Programme. In addition, no
assurance or representation is given by the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Dealers, any second party opinion
providers or the External Verifier as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion,
report, certification or validation of any third party in connection with the offering of any Sustainability-Linked
Notes under the Programme or the Sustainability Performance Target (as defined herein) to fulfil any green,
social, sustainability, sustainability-linked and/or other criteria. Any such opinion, report or certification is not,
nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Prospectus.

The Arranger and the Dealers have not separately verified the information contained in this Prospectus. None
of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with
respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Prospectus. Neither this Prospectus
nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should
not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Obligors, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient
of this Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of
Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase
of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger
undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Obligors during the life of the arrangements
contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information
coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.


http://www.holcim.com/

Certain financial and statistical information in this Prospectus has been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, the sum of certain data may not conform to the total. In addition, all financial information in this
Prospectus is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, the consolidated financial
statements (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference” below).

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “€”, “EUR”,
“Euro” and “euro” are to the single currency of those member states of the EU participating in the third stage
of the European economic and monetary union from time to time as amended, references to “U.S.$” or “USD”
are to United States dollars, references to “GBP” and “Sterling” are to pounds sterling and references to “CHF”
are to Swiss francs.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more relevant Dealers (in such capacity, the
“Stabilising Manager(s)”) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes
or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which
might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting
on behalf of any Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on
or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is
made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue
date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation
action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) or person(s) acting on behalf
of any Stabilising Manager(s) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

This Prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements. A forward-looking statement is a statement that
does not relate to historical facts and events. They are based on analyses or forecasts of future results and
estimates of amounts not yet determinable or foreseeable. These forward-looking statements are identified by
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the use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”,
“plan”, “predict”, “project”, “will” and similar terms and phrases, including references and assumptions. This
applies, in particular, to statements in this Prospectus containing information on future earning capacity, plans
and expectations regarding the Group’s business and management, its growth and profitability, and general

economic and regulatory conditions and other factors that affect it.

Forward-looking statements in this Prospectus are based on current estimates and assumptions that Holcim
makes to the best of its present knowledge. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors which could cause actual results, including the Group’s financial condition and results of
operations, to differ materially from and be worse than results that have expressly or implicitly been assumed
or described in these forward-looking statements. The Group’s business is also subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties that could cause a forward-looking statement, estimate or prediction in this Prospectus to become
inaccurate. Accordingly, investors are strongly advised to read the following sections of this Prospectus: “Risk
Factors”, “Documents Incorporated by Reference”, (in relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL only)
“Additional Documents Incorporated by Reference”, “General Description of the Programme” and “Business”.
These sections include more detailed descriptions of factors that might have an impact on the Group’s business
and the markets in which it operates. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, future events
described in this Prospectus may not occur.

In addition, none of the Issuers, the Guarantor or the Dealers assume any obligation, except as required by law,
to update any forward-looking statement or to conform these forward-looking statements to actual events or
developments.

BENCHMARKS REGULATION - Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to the
Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR?”), the Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”), the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”), the Euro Short-term Rate (“€STR”) or the Swiss Average Rate Overnight,



which are provided by the European Money Markets Institute (“EMMI”) (as administrator of EURIBOR), the
Bank of England (as administrator of SONIA), the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (as administrator of
SOFR), the European Central Bank (as administrator of €ESTR) and SIX Index AG (as administrator of the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight). As at the date of this Prospectus, EMMI and SIX Index AG appear in the European
Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”)’s register of administrators and benchmarks under Article 36 of
Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (as amended, the “BMR?”). As at the date of this Prospectus, ICE, the Bank of
England, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and the European Central Bank do not appear in ESMA’s
register of administrators and benchmarks under Article 36 of the BMR. As far as the Issuers and the Guarantor
are aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the BMR apply, such that ICE is not currently required to
obtain recognition, endorsement or equivalence. As far as the Issuers and the Guarantor are aware, the Bank of
England (as administrator of SONIA), the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (as administrator of SOFR) and
the European Central Bank (as administrator of €STR) are not required to be registered by virtue of Article 2
of the BMR.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see “Documents
Incorporated by Reference” and (in relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL only) “Additional Documents
Incorporated by Reference” below), references to websites or uniform resource locators (“URLS”) in this
Prospectus are inactive textual references. The information on any such website or URL does not form part of
this Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF or the Swiss Review Body.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

This overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on
a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference. This
overview is therefore qualified in its entirety by the remainder of the Prospectus.

In relation to Notes to be publicly offered in Switzerland and/or with respect to which application will be made
for admission to trading and listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or
multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland) — For the purposes of the Swiss Financial Services Act of 15 June
2018 (as amended, the “FinSA”), this overview constitutes a summary within the meaning of articles 40(3)
and 43 thereof. This overview should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus. Any decision to invest in
the Notes should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole, including the documents
incorporated by reference, as completed, modified, supplemented and/or replaced by the relevant Final Terms.
This overview is therefore qualified in its entirety by the remainder of the Prospectus and the relevant Final
Terms. Potential investors in Notes should be aware that liability under article 69 of the FinSA for any false
or misleading information contained in this overview is limited to any such information that is false or
misleading when read together with, or that is inconsistent with, the other parts of this Prospectus, as
completed, modified, supplemented and/or replaced by the information set out in the applicable Final Terms.

Issuers: Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim Finance US LLC, Holcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd, Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. and
Holcim Ltd.

Website: The website of each Issuer and the Guarantor is
www.holcim.com.

Guarantor: Holcim Ltd, in respect of Notes issued by Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.,
Holcim Finance US LLC, Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd and
Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.

Description of Holcim Ltd: Holcim Ltd was registered as a corporation under Swiss law
under the name “Holderbank Financiére Glaris Ltd.” in the
Commercial Register of the Canton of Glarus, Switzerland, on 4
August 1930 under number CHE-100.136.893 (formerly
160.3.003.050-5 under the Commercial Register’s prior filing
system) with unlimited duration. As of 18 May 2001, the
company changed its name to “Holcim Ltd” and moved its
registered office to Rapperswil-Jona and was registered with the
Commercial Register of the Canton of St. Gall, Switzerland. As
of 10 July 2015, Holcim Ltd completed its merger with Lafarge
S.A. and changed its name to “LafargeHolcim Ltd”. As of 4 May
2021, LafargeHolcim Ltd changed its name to “Holcim Ltd”,
moved its registered office to Zug and is registered with the
Commercial Register of the Canton of Zug, Switzerland.

The registered office of Holcim Ltd is at Grafenauweg 10, 6300
Zug, Switzerland and its telephone number is +41 58 858 5858.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900EHPFPYHV61Q098.
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Business of the Group:

Description of Holcim
Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.:

Description of Holcim US
Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.:

Description of Holcim Finance US LLC:

The Group’s business activities are organised into four
geographical regions: Asia Pacific; Latin America; North
America and Europe Middle East Africa, and are divided into
four product lines:

e cement, which includes all activities focusing on the
manufacture and distribution of cement and other
cementitious materials;

e  aggregates, which comprises the production, processing
and distribution of aggregates such as crushed stone, gravel
and sand,;

e  ready mix concrete; and

e solutions & products, which comprises inter alia precast,
concrete products, roofing, asphalts, mortars and
contracting and services.

HFL was incorporated for an unlimited duration on 27 March
2003 in Luxembourg as a public limited liability company
(société anonyme) under Luxembourg law. HFL is registered
with the Register of Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg
under number B 92528.

The registered office of HFL is at 21, rue Louvigny, L-1946
Luxembourg, Luxembourg and its telephone number is +35 22
673 8840.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900XU3Z9D2HLBR716.

HUSFL was incorporated on 28 November 2005 under
Luxembourg law as a société en commandite simple, but was
changed into a société anonyme on 30 May 2022. HUSF has been
incorporated for an unlimited duration and is registered with the
Register of Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg under
number B 112.666.

The registered office of HUSFL is at 21, rue Louvigny, L-1946
Luxembourg, Luxembourg and its telephone number is +35 22
673 8840.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900CXLAPDSXWXLLO7.

HFUS is a Delaware limited liability company, formed on 31
August 2016 under the name “LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC”
for an unlimited duration and its register number is 6138676. As
of 27 May 2021, the Certificate of Formation of LafargeHolcim
Finance US LLC was amended to change the company name
from LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC to “Holcim Finance US
LLC”.

The registered office of HFUS is 1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, DE 19801, United States of America, its business
address is 8700 W. Bryn Mawr Ave., Suite 300, Chicago, Illinois
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Description of Holcim Helvetia Finance
Ltd:

Description of Holcim Sterling Finance
(Netherlands) B.V.

Business of HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL
and HSFN:

Risk Factors:

60631, United States of America and its telephone number is +1
302 658 7581.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900FB2F1WKLFNGY62.

HHFL was registered as a corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under
Swiss law under the name “LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance
Ltd” with the Commercial Register of the Canton of St. Gall,
Switzerland, on 25 November 2015, under number CHE-
364.227.140 with unlimited duration. As of 8 April 2021, HHFL
moved its registered office to Zug and is registered with the
Commercial Register of the Canton of Zug, Switzerland. As of 9
June 2021, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd changed its
name to “Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”.

The registered office of HHFL is at Grafenauweg 10, 6300 Zug,
Switzerland, and its telephone number is +41 58 858 8678.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900F1VOCPF50VSSO07.

HSFN was incorporated on 14 March 2016 under the laws of the
Netherlands as a private company with limited liability (besloten
vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid) under the name
“LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.”, with its
corporate seat (statutaire zetel) at Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
HSFN has been incorporated for an unlimited duration and has
been registered with the trade register maintained by the Dutch
Chamber of Commerce under number 65563921. As of 15 June
2021, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.
changed its name to “Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands)
B.V.”.

The registered office of HSFN is at Roemer Visscherstraat 41 B,
1054 EW Amsterdam, The Netherlands and its telephone number
is +31 (0)20 5788000.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900KU5LFL22MEGKO?7.

Each of HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN acts as a finance
company on behalf of the Group.

There are certain factors that may affect the Relevant Issuer’s
ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the
Programme. There are also certain factors that may affect
Holcim Ltd’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Guarantee
(as defined below). In addition, there are investment
considerations which are material for the purpose of assessing
the risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme
including the following:

(i) legal and compliance risks; (ii) sustainability risks; (iii)
financial risks; (iv) external risks; (v) risks relating to energy;
(vi) operational risks; (vii) the Notes may have features which
contain particular risks for potential investors such as an optional
redemption feature, fixed/floating rate Notes, discontinuation of
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Description of the Programme:

Size:

Arranger:

Dealers:

Fiscal Agent:
Registrar:
Transfer Agent:
Method of Issue:

benchmarks on floating rate Notes, Notes issued at a substantial
discount or premium and Notes with an interest rate subject to
upward adjustment(s) or premium amount(s) payable in the
event the Group does not achieve one or more specified
Sustainability Performance Target(s); (viii) the Group may incur
substantial additional indebtedness in the future; (ix) payments
under certain Notes may be subject to Swiss federal withholding
tax pursuant to certain amendments to the Swiss federal
withholding tax system; (x) risks relating to changes in law or
taxation laws, which affect the Notes; (xi) there are certain risks
relating to Notes where denominations involve integral
multiples; (xii) enforcement of English court judgments in
Luxembourg will be subject to potential additional procedural
requirements following the withdrawal of the United Kingdom
from the EU; and (xiii) the Notes are subject to market risks,
including liquidity risk, exchange rate risks, interest rate risk and
credit risk.

See “Risk Factors” below.
Euro Medium Term Note Programme.

€15,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date
of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any
one time.

BNP Paribas.

BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup
Global Markets Limited, ING Bank N.V., Mizuho Securities
Europe GmbH, NatWest Markets Plc, Société Générale, UBS
AG London Branch and UniCredit Bank AG.

The Obligors may from time to time terminate the appointment
of any Dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers
either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the
whole Programme. References in this Prospectus to “Permanent
Dealers” are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such
additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the
whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been
terminated) and references to “Dealers” are to all Permanent
Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or
more Tranches.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch.
Citibank Europe plc.
Citibank, N.A., London Branch.

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated
basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series™) having
one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or
identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest),
the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable
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Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in
tranches (each a “Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates.
The specific terms of each Tranche (which, save in respect of the
issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal
amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other
Tranches of the same Series) will be completed in the final terms
document (the “Final Terms™).

The specific terms of the offer and any admission to trading and
listing of any Tranche of Notes will also be set out in the relevant
Final Terms.

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or
premium to their nominal amount as specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

The Notes issued by HFL, HUSFL, HHFL and HSFN may be
issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”), in bearer form
exchangeable for Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer
Notes”) or in registered form only (“Registered Notes”).
Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes and
Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be
exchanged for Registered Notes. The Notes issued by HFUS may
be issued as Registered Notes only.

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes
will be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note if (i)
definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders
following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such
Notes have an initial maturity of more than one year and are
being issued in compliance with the D Rules (as defined in
“Subscription and Sale — Selling Restrictions” below).
Otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a Permanent
Global Note.

Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, one
Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire
holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Global Certificates
will be registered in the name of a nominee for one or more
clearing systems. Registered Notes issued by HFUS will initially
be represented by a Temporary Global Certificate. Beneficial
interests in Temporary Global Certificates are exchangeable for
beneficial interests in Permanent Global Certificates following
the expiration of the Distribution Compliance Period upon
certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership or certification
that the Notes were acquired in a transaction exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Global Notes may be issued in NGN form or CGN form, as set
out in the relevant Final Terms.

Each Tranche of Notes denominated in Swiss francs (*“Swiss
Franc Notes”) will be represented exclusively by a Permanent
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Clearing Systems:

Initial Delivery of Notes:

Global Note which will be deposited with SIX SIS AG (“SIS”),
or such other intermediary (Verwahrungsstelle) in Switzerland
that is recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss Exchange
(SIS or such other intermediary, the “Intermediary”) on or prior
to the original issue date of such Tranche. Such Permanent
Global Note will be exchangeable for definitive Notes in whole
but not in part only if the Swiss principal paying agent should
deem, after consultation with the Relevant Issuer, that the
printing of definitive Notes is necessary or useful, or if the
presentation of definitive Notes is required by Swiss or other
applicable laws and regulations in connection with the
enforcement of rights of Noteholders, or if the Swiss principal
paying agent at any time at its discretion determines to have
definitive Notes issued; holders of Swiss Franc Notes will not
have the right to effect or demand the conversion of the
Permanent Global Notes representing such Swiss Franc Notes
into, or delivery of, Notes in definitive or uncertificated form.

Pursuant to the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005 abolishing
bearer securities, securities in bearer form may no longer be
physically delivered in Belgium. Accordingly, Bearer Notes and
Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be physically delivered to
Noteholders in Belgium.

Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any
Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between
the Relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Relevant Dealer
and, as the case may be, the Registrar.

In the case of each Tranche of Swiss Franc Notes, SIS or such
other clearing system as may be agreed between the Relevant
Issuer, the Swiss principal paying agent and the Relevant Dealer.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant
Global Note is an NGN or the relevant Global Certificate is held
under the NSS, the Global Note or Global Certificate will be
delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for each
Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the relevant
Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, the Global Note
representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes or the
Global Certificate representing Registered Notes may (or, in the
case of Notes admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading
on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,
shall) be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Global Certificates
relating to Notes that are not admitted to the Official List and
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange may also be deposited with any other clearing
system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided
that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by
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Currencies:

Maturities:

Denomination:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Benchmark Discontinuation:

the Relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, and the Relevant Dealer
and, as the case may be, the Registrar. Registered Notes that are
to be credited to one or more clearing systems on issue will be
registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee for
such clearing systems. The Permanent Global Note representing
any Tranche of Swiss Franc Notes will be deposited with the
Intermediary on or prior to the original issue date of such
Tranche (see “Form of Notes” above).

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between
the Relevant Issuer and the Relevant Dealers.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, any maturity agreed between the Relevant Issuer and
the Relevant Dealers.

According to the Luxembourg Act dated 16 July 2019 relating to
prospectuses for securities (the “Luxembourg Act”), the CSSF
is not competent to approve prospectuses for the listing of money
market instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12
months and which also comply with the definition of securities
in the Luxembourg Act.

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a
regulated market within the EEA or offered to the public in a
Member State of the EEA in circumstances which require the
publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Regulation, the
minimum Specified Denomination shall be €100,000 (or the
equivalent of such amounts in another currency as at the date of
issue of the Notes).

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be
specified in the relevant Final Terms and unless otherwise
permitted by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including
Notes denominated in Sterling) having a maturity of less than
one year and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be
accepted by the Relevant Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose
issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”) will have a
minimum denomination of GBP 100,000 (or its equivalent in
other currencies).

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in
each year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for
each Series by reference to EURIBOR, SONIA, SOFR, €STR or
SARON Compounded as adjusted for any applicable margin.
Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

If “SARON Compounded” is not specified as the relevant
Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms, on the occurrence
of a Benchmark Event, the Issuer may (subject to certain
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Zero Coupon Notes:

Interest Periods and Interest Rates:

Step Down Rating Change or Step Up
Rating Change:

Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event:

conditions and following consultation with an Independent
Adviser) determine a Successor Rate, failing which an
Alternative Rate and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if
any, and any Benchmark Amendments in accordance with
Condition 5(m).

If “SARON Compounded” is specified as the relevant Reference
Rate in the applicable Final Terms (and, with respect to Notes
issued by Holcim Ltd that will not be listed on the Official List
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on
the Market and Notes issued by HHFL, unless otherwise
specified in such Final Terms), if a SARON Index Cessation
Event and a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date have both
occurred at or prior to the Specified Time on any Zurich Banking
Day, the SARON Recommended Replacement Rate (giving
effect to the SARON Recommended Adjustment Spread, if any),
failing which the SNB Policy Rate (giving effect to the SNB
Adjustment Spread, if any), and failing which the SARON
Replacement Rate (giving effect to the Adjustment Spread
(SARON), if any), and, in each case, any necessary amendments
to the Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement, will be
determined, in accordance with Condition 5(b)(iii)(c) or
Condition 5(n), as applicable.

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at
a discount to it and will not bear interest.

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable
interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to
time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a fixed or a
floating rate and may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits
the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest
period.

The relevant Final Terms will state whether a Step Down Rating
Change or Step Up Rating Change Event will apply to the Notes,
in which case, the rate of interest in respect of the Notes may be
subject to adjustment as specified in the relevant Final Terms.
See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Step Down Rating
Change or Step Up Rating Change” below.

The relevant Final Terms will state whether a Sustainability-
Linked Trigger Event will apply to the Notes, in which case, if
Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) applies, the rate of
interest in respect of the Notes may be subject to upward
adjustment(s) as specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if
Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Premium) applies,
premium amount(s) may be payable as specified in the relevant
Final Terms. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes -
Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event” below.
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Redemption:

Optional Redemption:

Status of Notes:

Status of Guarantee:

Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Early Redemption:

Withholding Tax:

The relevant Final Terms will specify the redemption amounts
payable. Unless permitted by then current laws and regulations,
Notes (including Notes denominated in Sterling) which have a
maturity of less than one year and in respect of which the issue
proceeds are to be accepted by the Relevant Issuer in the United
Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention
of section 19 of the FSMA must have a minimum redemption
amount of GBP 100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will
state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity at the option of the Relevant Issuer (either in whole or
in part) and/or the holders. In addition, if so specified in the
relevant Final Terms, if (i) a Change of Control Put Event occurs,
a holder of a Note will have the option to require the Issuer to
redeem such Note at the Change of Control Redemption Amount
specified in the relevant Final Terms, and (ii) if an Acquisition
Event occurs, the Issuer will have the option to redeem all or
some of the Notes at the Acquisition Event Redemption Price
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Notes will constitute direct, senior, unconditional and
unsecured obligations of the Relevant Issuer, as described in
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Guarantee and Status”.

The guarantee of the Notes (the “Guarantee”) will constitute a
direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligation
of the Guarantor, as described in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Guarantee and Status”. See “Form of Guarantee”.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Negative Pledge”
below.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default”
below.

Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes will
be redeemable at the option of the Relevant Issuer prior to
maturity only for tax reasons. See “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Redemption, Purchase and Options” below.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes by
the Relevant Issuer (other than Holcim Ltd and Holcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd) and the Guarantor (other than in respect of Notes
issued by Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd) will be made free and
clear of withholding taxes of Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the
United States or Switzerland, as the case may be, in each case
subject to certain exceptions, all as described in “Form of
Guarantee” and “Terms and Conditions of the Notes —
Taxation”.

In respect of Notes issued by Holcim Ltd or Holcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd, all payments of interest on the Notes (including a
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Governing Law:

Approval of Prospectus by CSSF:

potential issue discount or repayment premium) by the Relevant
Issuer or, in the case of Notes issued by Holcim Helvetia Finance
Ltd, the Guarantor will be subject to Swiss federal withholding
tax (which is currently set at a rate of 35 per cent.). No additional
amounts shall be paid by the Issuer in respect of any such
withholding. The holder of a Note residing in Switzerland who,
at the time the payment of interest is due, is the beneficial
recipient of the payment of interest and who duly reports the
gross payment of interest in his or her tax return and, as the case
may be, in the statement of income, is entitled to a full refund of
or a full tax credit for the Swiss federal withholding tax. A holder
of a Note who is not resident in Switzerland may be able to claim
a full or partial refund of the Swiss federal withholding tax by
virtue of provisions of an applicable double taxation treaty, if
any, between Switzerland and the country of residence of such
holder.

The Notes will be governed by and construed in accordance with
English law. The provisions of Articles 470-1 to 470-19 of the
Luxembourg law on commercial companies of 10 August 1915,
as amended, are excluded.

The Guarantee will be governed by and construed in accordance
with Swiss substantive law.

The CSSF has approved the information contained in this
Prospectus relating to HFL, HUSFL, HFUS, HSFN and Holcim
Ltd. The CSSF assumes no responsibility for the economic and
financial soundness of the transactions contemplated by this
Prospectus or the quality or solvency of the Issuers in accordance
with Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg Prospectus Act. Pursuant to
the Luxembourg Prospectus Act, the CSSF is not competent to
approve prospectuses for the offering to the public or for the
admission to trading on regulated markets of money market
instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12 months.

This Prospectus has been approved by the CSSF as competent
authority under the Luxembourg Prospectus Act and the
Prospectus Regulation. The CSSF only approves this Prospectus
as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and
consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such
approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the
Issuers or the quality of the Notes that are the subject of this
Prospectus and investors should make their own assessment as
to the suitability of investing in the Notes.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information
contained in this Prospectus relating to HHFL or in connection
with Notes admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss
Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral
trading facility) in Switzerland).
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Approval of Prospectus by Swiss Review
Body:

Listing and Admission to Trading:

This Prospectus is dated and was approved as a base prospectus
within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA by SIX Exchange
Regulation Ltd in its capacity as a Swiss review body pursuant
to article 52 of the FinSA (in such capacity, the “Swiss Review
Body™”) on 3 August 2022. This Prospectus has been approved
by the Swiss Review Body for use in connection with the public
offering in Switzerland and/or admission to trading on the SIX
Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or
multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland) of Notes issued by
either HHFL or Holcim Ltd (together, the “Swiss Issuers™) only.
Accordingly, this Prospectus does not constitute a base
prospectus within the meaning of article 45 of the FinSA, and
has not been approved by the Swiss Review Body for use in
connection with, Notes issued by HFL, HUSFL, HFUS or
HSFN.

In respect of any Tranche of Notes to be issued by a Swiss Issuer
during the 12 months from the date of this Prospectus, this
Prospectus (as supplemented by any supplements hereto filed,
approved (if applicable) and published in accordance with article
56 of the FinSA and articles 63 to 67 of the FinSO as of the date
of the applicable Final Terms), together with the applicable Final
Terms, will constitute the prospectus for purposes of the FinSA.

In the case of any Tranche of Notes to be issued by a Swiss Issuer
and publicly offered in Switzerland and/or with respect to which
application will be made to admit such Notes to trading on the
SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or
multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland), the relevant Final
Terms will be filed with the Swiss Review Body and published
in accordance with the FinSA as soon as the final terms of such
Notes are available, but, in the case of an admission to trading,
in any case no later than the first day of trading for such Notes
on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or such other trading venue in
Switzerland). The Final Terms for such Notes will not be
reviewed or approved by the Swiss Review Body. The CSSF is
not the competent authority and will neither approve nor review
the Final Terms or the Prospectus in respect of such Notes.

Application has been made, or will be made, to list Notes issued
under the Programme on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange and to admit them to trading on the Market
except in the case of Notes issued by HHFL.

Application may be made for the admission to trading and listing
of a Tranche of Notes on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other
trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in
Switzerland). The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed
information contained in this Prospectus in connection with
Notes admitted to trading and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange
(or such other trading venue in Switzerland).
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Ratings:

Use of Proceeds:

Selling Restrictions:

As at the date of this Prospectus: (i) the Programme has been
rated BBB+ by S&P and Baal by Moody’s, and (ii) the long-
term senior obligations of each of Holcim Ltd, HFL, HUSFL,
HFUS, HHFL and HSFN have been rated BBB+ by S&P and
Baal by Moody’s. Tranches of Notes issued under the
Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes
is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating
assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be
subject to supervision, reduction or withdrawal at any time by
the assigning rating agency.

Moody’s is established in the EU and registered under the CRA
Regulation. S&P is not established in the EU but the ratings it
has given to the Programme and each of Holcim Ltd, HFL,
HUSFL, HFUS, HHFL and HSFN are endorsed by S&P Global
Ratings Europe Ltd, which is established in the EU and
registered under the CRA Regulation.

The net proceeds for each issue of Notes (other than Notes issued
by either Swiss Issuer) will be used for general corporate
purposes of the Group and will be applied by the Relevant Issuer
outside of Switzerland unless and to the extent application in
Switzerland is permitted under the Swiss taxation laws in force
from time to time without payments in respect of any such Notes
becoming subject to withholding or deduction for Swiss federal
withholding tax as a consequence of such application of proceeds
in Switzerland.

The net proceeds for each issue of Notes issued by either Swiss
Issuer will be used for general corporate purposes of the Group.

If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular
identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable
Final Terms.

The United States, the EEA or the Public Offer Selling
Restriction under the Prospectus Regulation, the United
Kingdom, Luxembourg, Italy, the Netherlands, Japan, Singapore
and, under certain circumstances, Switzerland. See
“Subscription and Sale” below.

Notes issued by HFL, HUSFL, HHFL and HSFN are Category 2
for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Notes issued by HFUS are Category 3 for the purposes of
Regulation S under the Securities Act.

If the relevant Final Terms specify that the applicable TEFRA (as
defined below) exemption is “TEFRA D”, then the Bearer Notes
will be issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-
5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same
form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™)) (the
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“D Rules™) unless (i) the relevant Final Terms specify that the
applicable TEFRA exemption is “TEFRA C”, then the Bearer
Notes are issued in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. 81.163-
5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any successor rules in substantially the same
form that are applicable for purposes of Section 4701 of the
Code) (the “C Rules”) or (ii) if the relevant Final Terms specify
“TEFRA not applicable”, then the Notes are issued other than in
compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances
in which the Notes will not constitute “registration required
obligations” under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal
Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”).
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RISK FACTORS

The Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) that the following factors may adversely affect its
operations or financial condition and cause harm to its reputation and thereby affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under Notes and/or the Guarantee, as the case may be, issued under the Programme.

Factors which the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) are material for the purpose of assessing
the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) that the factors described below represent the principal
risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme. Additional risks and uncertainties relating to
the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor that are not currently known to the Relevant Issuer and/or the
Guarantor, or that the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor currently deem immaterial, may individually or
cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the business activities, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows of the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor and, if any such risk should occur, the
price of the Notes may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. Prospective investors
should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents deemed
to be incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Risks Relating to the Group’s Business

Legal and compliance risks
Compliance risks

The Group has implemented a compliance program with respect to applicable anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering, data protection and trade sanctions laws. Nonetheless, the Group might be found to have violated
laws and regulations covering business conduct such as those that combat bribery, corruption, fraud, breach of
competition laws, breach of trade sanctions or export controls, and unauthorised use of personal data leading to
investigation costs, financial penalties, debarment, profit disgorgement and reputational damage. The impact is
compounded by the fact that local violations can have an effect on the entire Group, and such impact could
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Competition regulation

In recent years, various competition regulators worldwide have imposed fines on cement, building materials
and building materials services companies for involvement in illegal cartel practices or other anticompetitive
practices. The Group has in place a code of business conduct including principles of fair competition and has a
fair competition compliance programme across the Group.

The competition authorities in various regions have initiated competition law investigations against certain
members of the Group regarding alleged involvement in illicit agreements and anti-competitive practices. The
investigations and proceedings are at different stages and are ongoing. For further details on the material cases,
see note 16.3 to the consolidated financial statements of Holcim Ltd in the Annual Report 2021 (as defined
herein).

The Group cannot predict the outcome of the pending competition proceedings or investigations. A finding of
an infringement of competition law could adversely affect the Group in a variety of ways. For example, it could
result in: (i) the imposition of significant fines (the amount of any such fine could vary significantly from one
jurisdiction to the next, and depends on a variety of factors; it is typically based around the turnover generated
by the relevant company from sales of the product subject to the infringement); (ii) third parties (such as
customers, and in more limited cases, competitors) initiating civil litigations claiming damages caused by
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anticompetitive practices; (iii) reputational damage to Holcim; (iv) restrictions on the Group's ability to carry
out acquisitions (in certain jurisdictions); (v) forced divestments; (vi) significant costs or changes in business
practices that may result in reduced revenues and/or margins; and/or (vii) potential debarment from public
tenders. These potential consequences could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations
and financial condition of the Group.

Minority interests, minority participations and joint ventures

The Group does not always have a controlling interest in joint ventures and associates in which it has invested.
This may restrict the Group’s ability to generate adequate returns and to implement the operating standards and
compliance program. These limitations could impair the Group’s ability to manage joint ventures and associates
effectively and/or realize the strategic goals for these businesses. In addition, this might hamper the ability of
Holcim to implement organisational efficiencies and its controls framework, including its full compliance
program. It can also impede the ability to transfer cash and assets between subsidiaries in order to allocate assets
in the most effective way. In addition, the Group’s presence in certain jurisdictions through joint ventures and
associates may expose the Group to litigation as a result of changes in law or enforcement policies (see note
16.3 to the consolidated financial statements of Holcim Ltd in the Annual Report 2021).

In certain jurisdictions, members of the Group have entered into shareholders’ and/or joint venture agreements
with respect to the corresponding participation in such jurisdiction. Such contractual obligations may limit in
the future the freedom of action of the Group and/or may result, under certain circumstances, in financial
obligations of Holcim towards joint venture partners. Certain joint venture agreements may contain “deadlock”
provisions that may result in put and/or call options becoming exercisable in the event of disagreements, rights
of first refusal or the sale of the joint venture. The Group could be required to expend significant sums to
perform its obligations under these options. In addition, stable relationships with local joint venture partners
may be critical to the success of the operations of the Group in these jurisdictions. There can be no assurance
that relationships with joint venture partners will remain stable or that joint venture partners will not be acquired
by competitors of Holcim.

In certain of its operations, the Group has a significant but not always a controlling interest. Under the governing
documents for certain of these partnerships and corporations, certain key matters, such as the approval of
business plans and decisions as to the timing and amount of cash distributions, may require the consent of the
partners of Holcim or may be approved without the consent of the Group. These limitations could constrain the
Group’s ability to pursue its corporate objectives in the future.

Litigation risks

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group is and may in the future become involved in lawsuits, claims
of various natures, investigations and proceedings, including product liability, ownership, commercial,
environmental, health and safety matters. Additionally, in connection with disposals made in past years, the
Group provided customary warranties. Holcim and its subsidiaries may receive claims arising from these
warranties. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on the business, and the results of
operations and financial condition of the Group (see note 16.3 to the consolidated financial statements of
Holcim Ltd in the Annual Report 2021).

Sustainability risks
Carbon dioxide emissions and climate change

The cement industry is associated with high carbon dioxide (“CO2”) intensity and Holcim is exposed to a
variety of regulatory frameworks to reduce emissions, some of which may be under revision. These frameworks
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can affect the business activities of Holcim. In addition, a perception of the sector as a high emitter could impact
Holcim’s reputation, thus reducing its attractiveness to investors, employees and potential employees.

The potential effects of climate-related risks on the Group are as follows:

Policy and legal: In the wake of the COP21, climate policy frameworks have been evolving significantly
across jurisdictions where Holcim is present. The likely effect of this growing number of frameworks
will be to increase the cost of emitting CO.. In the EU, entering phase 1V of the Emission Trading System
(the “ETS”) in 2021 reduced CO: allowances and exposed Holcim to increased pricing of CO:
emissions. On 14 July 2021, the European Commission published a broad legislative package “Fit for
55” aiming to support the EU journey towards decarbonisation and the objective to reach climate
neutrality by 2050. Holcim’s pledge to net zero is fully aligned with this initiative. Nonetheless, if
initiatives such as Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (“CBAM?”) are not designed to adequately
protect EU competitiveness, Holcim’s business may come under pricing pressure due to imports from
regions with less stringent CO: regulations. The most likely impacts would be the increase in production,
operation and distribution costs caused by the rise in carbon taxes and price of emissions allowances and
reduction of free allowances. In addition, the absence of efficient border adjustment mechanisms in the
EU might bring more competition with imports of clinker and cement.

Technology: The risk of the cost of technology being significantly higher than existing carbon pricing
mechanisms and the lack of integrated deployment of carbon capture in the supply chain ecosystems
(including transportation, sequestration) could prevent Holcim from its successful implementation.

Market: As the carbon debate intensifies, cement and concrete could be challenged by the Group’s
customers as the building material of first choice because of perceived high embodied COs.. In the long
term, should regulatory frameworks fail to incentivise consumption of low-carbon products, customers
of the Group may be unwilling to pay for additional costs and the cement sector’s low-carbon roadmap
might be compromised. Moreover, high CO: prices could also encourage the preference for alternative
building materials with both a lower price and a lower environmental footprint. The impacts include
reduced demand for products with volume or price decreases leading to revenue losses. On the supply
side, as the call for decarbonisation impacts the Group’s whole supply chain beyond 2030, inflationary
pressures in raw materials, energy and transportation are possible. Increase in prices of mineral
component (“MIC”) such as slag and fly ash challenges the CO: reduction roadmap as the integration
of MIC in the Group’s production process is a key lever for the reduction of clinker factor and thus
reduction of the Group’s CO: footprint. Concurrently, this risk might also reduce Holcim’s profitability.

Reputation: The risk of being perceived as a large carbon emitter could reduce the Group’s attractiveness
to stakeholders such as customers, investors, and employees. The Group’s inability to meet its
commitments (net zero pledge), if materialised, could also damage the Group’s reputation. In addition,
the emergence of litigation on the basis of climate action failure could damage the Group’s reputation
should it become the subject of any action. As a consequence, the Group may not have a sufficiently
robust talent pipeline if it cannot attract and retain talent due to perceived weak environmental
credentials.

Physical impact of climate change: The physical impact of climate change (such as flooding, changes in
precipitation patterns or extreme variability in weather patterns) has the potential to disrupt the Group’s
operations relating to both on-site operations and transportation activities. This could lead to higher
logistics and transportation costs, reduced production capacities (for example, delayed planning approval
and supply chain interruptions) and even reputational damage. The Group’s business is particularly
exposed to significant variations in river water levels affecting river-based supply chains and product
delivery, including when such river water levels are very low (an example being the Rhine in 2018) or
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very high (such as the Mississippi River in 2019). In addition, the Group operates in areas exposed to
water scarcity which could lead to potential disruptions in the Group’s operations. Based on information
from the World Resource Institute Aqueduct Water Tool, 23 per cent. of the Group’s sites are already
located in the medium, high and very high water risk areas.

Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Sustainability

As a building materials supplier, the Group’s operations are subject to humerous national and supranational
human rights, environmental, health and safety laws, regulations, treaties and conventions (together with the
other laws and regimes discussed below). The range of environment, social and governance (“ESG”) risks areas
include:

o Climate change (see further detail of the risk above);

o Local community engagement, impact and value creation;
o Human rights;

o Responsible sourcing;

o Employee diversity and inclusion;

o Waste-derived resources and circular economy;

o Air emissions including fugitive dust;

o Water management;

) Biodiversity management and quarry rehabilitation; and

o Internal waste management.

Any violations of existing ESG regulations would expose the Group to substantial fines and sanctions and may
require technical measures or investments to ensure compliance with mandatory emission limits and
environmental regulations. In some cases, violations may lead to the Group being unable to produce and/or to
market certain products. They could also reduce the Group’s ability to access new resources, whilst failure to
meet societal expectations of environmental, social and governance performance could impact the Group’s
social licence to operate. In addition, repetitive controversies could be escalated to a global level, damaging the
Group’s reputation or ESG score which is scrutinized by a large spectrum of stakeholders and can influence
external investment decisions. ESG regulations currently in force may be amended or modified or new
environmental regulations may be adopted, further curtailing or regulating the cement industry and related
industries in the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Holcim cannot predict the extent to which
its future earnings may be affected by the need to comply with such new environmental regulations.

Health and safety

The Group’s cement, aggregates, ready-mix and solutions & products production involves a number of health
and safety risks, especially on the road during transportation of material, that could cause harm, injury or
fatalities in the Group’s operations. The Group continuously monitors the risk through a global Health and
Safety Management System designed to improve the Group's performance and actively minimise risks in the
course of business as such incidents may impact the reputation or public perception of Holcim and could result
in additional costs and fines, which could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Waste management and environmental remediation

Many of the Group’s current and former properties are or have been used for industrial purposes. Holcim has
arranged for and will continue to arrange for safe and proper disposal of waste on its own premises, and at third-
party disposal sites. Under certain environmental laws, liability for activities at contaminated sites, including
buildings and other facilities, is strict, and in some cases, joint and several. The Group may in the future be
subject to potentially material liabilities relating to the investigation and clean-up of contaminated areas,
including groundwater, at properties owned or formerly owned, operated or used by the Group, and to claims
alleging personal injury or damage to natural resources. There can be no assurance that the Group’s current
provisions will be sufficient to cover all potential future liabilities related to environmental contamination.
Changes in applicable law or regulation relating to waste management and environmental remediation in
jurisdictions in which the Group operates could lead to greater tax liabilities. Holcim has been increasingly
using alternative fuels and raw materials to reduce CO, emissions as well as fuel and raw material costs. Some
of these alternative fuels are hazardous and require Holcim to use special procedures to protect workers and the
environment. When using hazardous waste for this purpose, the above-mentioned risks of environmental
liabilities or the health and safety liabilities as well as reputational risks may arise if such procedures are not
executed correctly.

Other regulations affecting mining operations

Access to the raw materials necessary for operations (such as limestone, aggregates and other key raw materials)
is essential to the sustainability and profitability of the Group’s operations and is a key consideration in the
Group’s investments. In addition to environmental regulations, the Group’s operations are subject to extensive
governmental regulations in the majority of countries in which the Group operates on matters such as permitting
and licensing requirements as well as reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is
completed. Holcim believes that it has obtained all material permits and licenses required to conduct its present
mining operations. However, the Group expects that it will need additional permits and renewals of permits for
future operations and to renew existing licences and permits. New site approval procedures generally require
preparation of geological surveys and environmental and social impact assessment (ESIA) studies including
endangered species studies of new sites. Compliance with these regulatory requirements is expensive and
requires an investment of substantial funds well before the Group knows whether a site’s operation will be
economically successful and often significantly lengthens the time needed to develop a new site. Additional
legal requirements could be adopted in the future that would render compliance still more challenging.

Furthermore, obtaining or renewing required permits and licenses is sometimes delayed or prevented due to
community opposition and other factors beyond the Group’s control. Holcim could be adversely affected if
current provisions for reclamation and closure costs were determined to be insufficient at a later stage, or if
future costs associated with reclamation were to be significantly greater than its current estimates. The Group
cannot be sure that current or future mining regulation, and compliance with such regulation, will not have an
adverse effect on its business, or that it will be able to obtain or renew permits and licenses in the future.

Financial risks

The Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash and/or have access to external funding to meet
its obligations

A lack of liquidity could impact the Group’s ability to meet its operational and/or financial obligations. The
Group’s ability to borrow from banks or access the capital markets to meet the Group’s financial requirements
is dependent on market conditions. Financial crises in particular geographic regions, industries or economic
sectors have led, in the recent past, and could lead, in the future, to sharp declines in the currencies, stock
markets and other asset prices, which in turn threaten the affected financial systems and economies.
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Any market slowdown may adversely impact the Group’s ability to borrow from banks or access the capital
markets and may significantly increase the costs of such borrowing. If sufficient sources of financing are not
available in the future for these or other reasons, the Group may be unable to meet its financial requirements,
which could materially and adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition. In the
course of business, Holcim uses external sources to finance a portion of its capital requirements. The cost and
availability of financing are generally dependent on short-term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that are
significant in the determination of the Group’s credit ratings or that otherwise could affect its ability to raise
short-term and long-term financing include (among others): level and volatility of earnings, relative positions
in the markets in which Holcim operates, its global and product diversification, risk management policies and
financial ratios such as net debt to Recurring EBITDA and cash flow from operations to net debt. It is expected
that credit rating agencies will focus, in particular, on the Group’s ability to generate sufficient operating cash
flows to cover the repayment of debt. Deterioration in any of the previously stated factors or a combination of
these factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade Holcim credit ratings, thereby increasing the Group’s cost
of obtaining financing or its access to bank financing and the capital markets.

Tax risks

The Group is subject to multiple tax laws and various regulatory requirements, which affect its commercial,
financial and tax situation. Changes in tax laws, regulations, court rulings, related interpretations, and tax
accounting standards in countries in which the Group operates may adversely affect its financial results.
Governmental authorities in the countries where the Group operates may also increase or impose new income
taxes or indirect taxes, or revise interpretations of existing tax rules and regulations, including new legislation
derived from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”) guidelines on
Digitalization of the Economy (Pillar 1 and Pillar 2) which may be adopted in 2023 or 2024. As the tax laws
and regulations in effect in the various countries in which the Group operates do not always provide clear or
definitive guidelines for interpretation and often require significant judgment, the Group cannot guarantee that
its tax position or structure will not be questioned or challenged by the tax authorities, or that applicable laws
and regulations in certain countries will not change, be interpreted differently or be applied inconsistently. More
generally, any violation, misinterpretation or differences in interpretation of tax laws and regulations in the
countries where the Group and its subsidiaries are located or do business could lead to assessments of additional
taxes as well as the payment of late fees, interest, fines and/or penalties. This could affect the Group’s financial
results.

The Group’s tax filings for various periods will be subject to audit by the tax authorities in most jurisdictions
in which the Group operates, as such jurisdictions may have extended focus on issues related to the taxation of
multinational corporations. These audits may result in assessments of additional taxes, as well as interest and/or
penalties, and could affect the Group’s financial results. Due to the uncertainty associated with tax matters, it is
possible that at some future date, liabilities resulting from audits or litigations could vary significantly from the
Group’s provisions.

The Group’s pension commitments and multi-employer pension plans

The Group has obligations under defined benefit pension plans, mainly in the United Kingdom, Switzerland
and North America. The Group’s funding obligations depend upon future asset performance, the level of interest
rates used to measure future liabilities, actuarial assumptions and experience, benefit plan changes, and
government regulations. Although the Group has implemented a number of actions intended to minimise
fluctuations, due to the large number of variables that determine pension funding requirements, which are
difficult to predict, as well as any legislative action, future cash funding requirements for the Group’s pension
plans and other post-employment benefit plans could be significantly higher than the amounts estimated as at
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31 December 2021. If so, these funding requirements could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial situation or results.

The Group participates in a number of union-sponsored multi-employer pension plans in the United States.
These plans are subject to substantial deficits due to market conditions and business actions, plan trustee
decisions, plan failure, as well as actions and decisions of other contributing employers. The Group has
essentially no control on how these plans are managed. Therefore, a material risk that substantial cash
contributions could be required in the future to satisfy any outstanding obligations under these plans exists.
Moreover, satisfying the Group’s obligations might have a material impact on the Group’s reported financial
results. The financial condition of these plans is not currently reported in the Group’s financial reports.

Insurance risk

The Group’s sector is subject to a wide range of risks, not all of which can be adequately insured. The Group
obtains insurance cover for a broad range of risks to protect its assets and itself against third party liabilities,
commensurate with the risk exposure. The Group could be impacted by losses where recovery from insurance
is either not available or non-reflective of the incurred loss.

Currency translation and transactional risks

The Group operates internationally (in around 60 countries) and a very high portion of its products are produced
locally, with most sales and costs incurred in the respective local currencies (other than the Swiss franc (its
reporting currency)). However, the Group faces foreign exchange risks arising mostly from the translation of
local financial statements for the consolidated financial statements. Any economic shock resulting from changes
of government, civil unrest, internal or international conflicts and tensions might have an impact on the expected
future economic growth and capital flows in some of these markets and may lead to devaluations of the local
currencies against the Group reporting currency. As of 31 December 2021, the Group operates in countries
which are among the ones with the highest inflation rates in the world (such as Argentina, Lebanon and
Zimbabwe). Due to the conflict between Ukraine and Russia which started on 24 February 2022, inflation is
expected to surge in many geographies, leading to potential movements in exchange rates that could have an
influence on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Such translation into the
Group’s reporting currency Swiss francs leads to currency translation effects, which the Group does not actively
hedge in the financial markets. In addition, the statement of financial position is only partially hedged by debt
in foreign currencies and therefore a significant decrease in the aggregate value of such local currencies against
the Swiss franc may have a material effect on the Group’s shareholders’ equity.

Currency fluctuations can also result in the recognition of foreign exchange losses on transactions, which are
reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of income. With regard to transaction-based foreign currency
exposures, the Group’s policy is to hedge material foreign currency exposures through derivative instruments.

Acquisition and disposal of businesses

As part of its strategy, the Group may make selective acquisitions and divestments to strengthen, develop or
streamline its existing business portfolio. Divestments can pose substantial challenges to the Group. The
divestment and separation process can affect business continuity and employee and business relationships (i.e.,
lenders and suppliers). In addition, the possibility of regulatory interference in a disposal process, as well as
delays, cannot be ruled out.

Disposals may result in the indemnification of unknown past liabilities as well as representation and warranties.
Moreover, the consideration received for a specific asset or business may be less than its actual value for the
Group, which could result in the recognition of losses in the period in which the sale occurs.
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There may be challenges or delays in integrating and generating value from acquired businesses. The costs of
integration can be materially higher than budgeted and the Group may fail to realise synergies expected from
such acquisitions. The challenges presented by integrating new businesses can be even greater in emerging
markets as a result of risks not faced to the same extent in more mature markets, including certain political and
legal risks and cultural and linguistic difficulties.

Acquisitions can also result in the assumption of unexpected or greater than expected liabilities relating to the
acquired assets or businesses and the possibility that indemnification agreements with the sellers of such assets
may be difficult to enforce or insufficient to cover all potential liabilities, the possibility of regulatory
interference, the imposition and maintenance of regulatory controls, procedures and policies and the impairment
of relationships with employees and counterparties as a result of difficulties arising out of integration. Moreover,
the value of any business that the Group acquires or invests in may be less than the consideration the Group
will pay.

Investments in certain jurisdictions are regulated by, inter alia, foreign investment regulations. There can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain or maintain all government approvals required in all jurisdictions
in which it makes investments.

Direct creditors of subsidiaries of the Guarantor will generally have superior claims to cash flows from
those subsidiaries

As a holding company, the Guarantor will depend upon cash flows received from its subsidiaries to meet its
payment obligations under the Notes. Since the creditors of any subsidiary of the Guarantor would generally
have a right to receive payment that is superior to the Guarantor’s right to receive payment from the assets of
that subsidiary, holders of the Notes will be effectively subordinated to creditors of those subsidiaries insofar
as cash flows from those subsidiaries are relevant to the Notes. The Conditions do not limit the amount of
liabilities that Group subsidiaries may incur.

In addition, the Guarantor may not necessarily have access to the full amount of cash flows generated by its
operating subsidiaries. A number of its subsidiaries are located in countries that may impose regulations
restricting the payment of dividends outside the country through exchange control regulations. Furthermore,
the transfer of dividends and other income from Group subsidiaries may be limited by various credit or other
contractual arrangements and/or tax constraints, which could make such payments difficult or costly.

Counterparty risk for financial operations

The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by a counterparty (mainly banks and other financial
institutions). The exposure to counterparty risks is limited by rigorously selecting the Group’s counterparties,
by regularly monitoring the ratings assigned to counterparties by credit rating agencies, and by taking into
account the nature and maturity of the Group’s exposed transactions, according to Group policies. Counterparty
limits are defined and regularly reviewed, however this may not prevent the Group from being significantly
impacted in the case of a systemic crisis.

Interest rate risks

The Group is exposed to interest-rate risk through debt and cash. The Group’s interest rate exposure can be
subdivided among the following risks:

Q) Price risk for fixed-rate financial assets and liabilities

o by contracting a fixed-rate liability, for example, the Group is exposed to an opportunity cost in
the event of a reduction in interest rates. Changes in interest rates impact the market value of
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fixed-rate assets and liabilities, leaving the associated financial income or expense unchanged;
and

(i) Cash flow risk for floating-rate assets and liabilities.

o changes in interest rates have little impact on the market value of floating-rate assets and
liabilities, but directly influence the future income or expense flows of the Group.

Any changes in interest rates could negatively impact the Group’s financial results. The note 14.6 to the
Consolidated Statements in the Annual Report 2021 presents the sensitivity analysis on 31 December 2021 with
its financial impacts for the Group. In accordance with its policy, the Group seeks to manage these two types
of risks with interest-rate swaps. The treasury department manages the Group’s financing and interest rate risk
in order to keep a balance between fixed rate and floating rate exposure.

Capital expenditure programme

The Group’s business production is capital intensive. The capital expenditure programmes of the Group
comprise both maintenance capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment to maintain production
capacity, and expansion capital expenditure to implement new growth projects. In response to changing market
conditions, Holcim may also undertake maintenance and expansion capital expenditure projects. There can be
no assurance that such projects will be completed on time or to budget. Factors that could result in planned
capital expenditure projects being delayed or cancelled include changes in economic conditions, construction
difficulties and cost overruns. In developed countries in particular, it can be difficult to obtain permits for new
installations and quarries, and extending the duration of existing permits may become more challenging.
Difficulties with permits could result in significant delays in future investments and growth or even in the
suspension of particular projects. Increased funding costs or greater difficulty in accessing financing to satisfy
the capital expenditure programme of the Group may have a material adverse effect on the business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Impairment risks

The cement and, to a lesser extent, the aggregates and the other construction materials businesses, of the Group,
are very capital intensive. At each statement of financial position date, the Group will assess whether there is
any indication that an asset may be impaired. The outcomes of the review of the portfolio for the year ended 31
December 2021 are presented in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements of Holcim Ltd for the year
ended 31 December 2021, which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. The outcomes of the review
of the portfolio for the half-year ended 30 June 2022 are presented in Note 1.3 to the condensed consolidated
financial statements of Holcim Ltd for the half-year ended 30 June 2022, which are incorporated by reference
in this Prospectus.

Where any indication of an asset impairment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any (see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of
Holcim Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2021, which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus). In
particular, in the context of growing challenges posed by the transition to a low carbon economy, the Group
makes estimates and assumptions on climate change and how it might impact operations and cash-flow
projections (see Note 1.4 to the consolidated financial statements of Holcim Ltd for the year ended 31 December
2021, which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus); the Group continuously re-evaluates those
assumptions in a way that is consistent with its assessment of climate-related risks, its commitments to investors
and other stakeholders and the climate-related regulations in place.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is established to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
such asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. The assessment of assets may lead to other impairments in the
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future. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of income and may therefore have a material effect
on the results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

External risks
Pandemics, epidemics, outbreaks of infectious diseases or any other serious public health concerns

Pandemics, epidemics, outbreaks of infectious diseases or any other serious public health concerns (such as
Ebola, avian flu, HIN1, SARS and the Coronavirus (or COVID-19)) whether on a regional or global scale,
together with any resulting restrictions on travel, imposition of quarantines, prolonged closures of workplaces
or disruption to the Group’s supply chain, may have a material adverse effect on the global economy in general,
as well as on demand for the Group’s products and on commaodity prices.

Competition

The markets for cement, aggregates, ready-mix concrete and other building products and services are very
competitive. Competition in these markets is largely based on price, but also increasingly on quality, service
and CO; emissions. With the development of the Solutions & Products business segment, which is expected to
grow to 30 per cent. of the Group’s net sales by 2025, the competition for quality and service may be further
exacerbated. On the basis of data contained in the Global Cement Directory (2021), as at 31 December 2020
the top four global cement producers represented approximately 22 per cent. of global capacity (excluding
China). Competition for the Group in the cement industry varies from market to market, but on a global basis
Holcim believes that its major competitors are HeidelbergCement AG, CRH plc and Cemex S.A.B. de C.V. The
Group also competes with numerous regional or local competitors. Competition, whether from established
market participants or new entrants, could cause the Group to lose market share or reduce pricing, any one of
which could have an adverse effect on business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The Group competes in each of its markets with domestic and foreign building materials suppliers, as well as
with importers of foreign products and with local and foreign construction service providers. Accordingly, the
profitability of the Group is generally dependent on the level of demand for such building materials and
solutions and products as well as the Group’s ability to differentiate its offers to maximise efficiencies and
control operating costs. Prices in these markets, especially for the least differentiated products, are subject to
material changes in response to relatively minor fluctuations in supply and demand, general economic
conditions (inflation) and other market conditions beyond the control of the Group (including political
instability). As a consequence, Holcim may face price, margin or volume declines in the future, which could (if
significant), have an adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations. Risk of such declines are particularly
acute in markets where overcapacity and/or oversupply exists.

Emerging markets risks

Holcim’s significant, albeit declining, presence in emerging markets exposes the Group to risks that it does not
face to the same extent in the Group’s core more mature economies such as economic and political risks and
risks associated with legal systems being less certain than those in more mature economies. Emerging markets
are exposed to greater volatility in gross domestic product (“GDP”), inflation, exchange rates, interest rates, oil
prices and commodity prices than developed markets, which may negatively affect the level of construction
activity and demand for the Group’s solutions and products segment as well as results of operations of the
Group in a given emerging market. Instability in an emerging market may also lead to restrictions on currency
movements, which may adversely affect the ability of emerging market operating subsidiaries of the Group to
pay dividends, and impose restrictions on imports of equipment.

Other potential risks presented by emerging markets include:
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o disruption of Holcim’s operations due to civil disturbances and other actual and threatened conflicts and
acts of terrorism;

) nationalisation and expropriation of assets;
o price and exchange controls;
o differences between and unexpected changes in licence and permit granting, regulatory environments,

including environmental, health and safety, local planning, zoning and labour laws, rules and regulations;
o less certainty concerning legal rights and their enforcement;

) varying tax regimes, including with respect to the imposition of withholding taxes on remittances and
other payments by subsidiaries and joint ventures;

o fluctuations in currency exchange rates and restrictions on the repatriation of capital;
) hyperinflation which may impair the Group’s consolidated financial results; and
o difficulties in attracting and retaining qualified management and employees.

Developments relating to any of the risks described above in an emerging market in which Holcim has a
significant presence could result in lower profits and/or a loss in value of its assets. There can be no assurance
that the assets, business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group will not be materially
adversely affected through its exposure to emerging markets.

Political risks and risks arising from exceptional external incidents

Holcim operates in many countries around the globe and is exposed, directly or indirectly, to the effects of
economic, political and social instability such as trade protectionism, sanctions, foreign exchange volatility,
turmoil, terrorism, civil war and civil unrest, particularly in developing markets. Civil unrest and political
instability might increase in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, and be strengthened by the economic and
supply disruptions (such as supply of food, fuel, etc.) and inflationary pressures caused by the Russia-Ukraine
conflict. The Group is also exposed in some locations to the immediate impact or subsequent conditions
resulting from a natural disaster (earthquake, volcanic eruption, flooding, etc.) which may impact people,
critical activities, operations or business continuity.

Cyclical nature of the construction industries

Holcim’s products and services are mainly used in the construction sector. Accordingly, in any jurisdiction,
demand for the Group’s products and services is dependent on the level of activity in the construction sector in
that jurisdiction. The construction industry tends to be cyclical, and depends on the level of construction-related
expenditures in the residential, commercial and infrastructure sectors. Political instability or changes in
government policy can also affect the construction industry. The industry is sensitive to factors such as GDP
growth, population growth, interest rates and inflation. An economic downturn could have a negative impact
on the level of activity in the construction sector, which in turn could adversely affect Holcim’s business, results
of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group operates in around 60 countries worldwide, and some markets or regions account for a significant
portion of the Group’s total sales. Although this broad geographic footprint might minimise exposure to cyclical
declines in an individual market, economic downturns in significant individual markets or on a regional or
global scale may have a material adverse effect on Holcim. Economic growth is not uniform across the
geographic regions in which the Group operates, and there can be no assurance that a weakening in economic
outlook will not affect the construction market globally or that negative economic conditions in one or more
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regions will not affect construction markets in other regions. The results of operations and profitability of the
Group could be adversely affected by a continued or further downturn in construction activity on a global scale
or in a significant market in which it operates.

In response to unfavourable market conditions (including CO; regulation and pricing), Holcim may decide to
close plants or operations and may therefore incur significant exceptional costs in the relevant financial period
and subsequent periods, even if such closures are made in order to reduce recurring costs and investments in
future years.

Risk relating to the use of substitutes for cement

Materials such as steel, wood, glass, clay bricks and ceramics can be used in construction as a substitute for
cement and concrete. Other construction technologies, such as the use of drywalls and composite materials
could decrease the demand for cement, ready-mix concrete and mortars. In addition, new construction
techniques such as 3D printing and modular construction may become more impactful in the future. The use of
substitutes for cement and concrete could cause a relevant reduction in volumes and prices for the products of
the Group and may have an adverse effect on its results of operations and financial conditions. As stated in the
description of the “Carbon dioxide emissions and climate change” risk factor, the use of substitutes for cement
might be encouraged by government and customers' responses to climate change.

Seasonal nature of construction business

During the winter season in the northern hemisphere and the rainy season in tropical climates in Latin America,
southeast Asia or Africa, there is typically lower activity in the construction sector, especially where
meteorological conditions make large-scale construction projects difficult, resulting in lower demand for
building materials.

The Group expects to continue to experience a decrease in sales during the first and fourth quarters reflecting
the effect of the winter season in Europe and North America and an increase in sales in the second and third
quarters reflecting the effect of the summer season in these markets. This effect can be especially pronounced
during harsh or long winters. In addition, high levels of rainfall in tropical countries during the rainy season can
adversely affect operations during those periods.

If these adverse climatic conditions are unusually intense, occur unexpectedly or last longer than usual in major
geographic markets, especially during seasonal peak construction periods, this could have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Risks relating to energy
Risks associated with energy costs

Cement production requires a high level of energy consumption, especially for the clinker and grinding
processes. The principal elements of these energy costs are fuel expenses and electricity expenses (which
include amongst others, costs for coal, petroleum coke, natural gas and alternative fuels such as biomass).

Any increase in prices for fuels or electricity or the inability to accomplish planned savings from alternative
fuels will impact the Group’s production costs. Energy prices may vary significantly in the future, largely due
to market forces and other factors beyond the control of the Group, including, for example, changes in the
regulatory regime applicable to energy prices in some countries where Holcim operates. Moreover, in certain
emerging markets, there is a risk that the Group may see increases in electricity prices due to a lack of generation
capacity and the effects of privatisation. While the economic recovery after the COVID-19 crisis triggered
shortages in the energy sector worldwide, the crisis in Ukraine may further exacerbate the surge in price by a
magnitude that is currently difficult to predict. Further, energy prices might increase if additional carbon taxes
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are levied in countries outside Europe where governments look to balance the decrease in fiscal resources while
addressing climate change.

The Group may also, particularly in the case of coal, experience time lags between movements in the energy
prices and movements in production costs since the supply of a substantial proportion of energy resources is
secured pursuant to long-term purchase agreements or as some of the exposure is hedged. Similarly, the Group’s
production facilities could experience interruption in the supply of energy or fuels.

Increase in energy prices could adversely impact financial performance, since the increase may not be passed
on (fully or partially) in the sales price of products.

Optimising fuel mix and energy efficiency, as well as the use of alternative fuels, is a key area of focus at all of
the Group’s plants. At Group level, derivative instruments are used to hedge part of exposure and avoid
volatility. Derivative instruments are generally limited to swaps and standard options. The Group also develops
long-term power purchase agreements/on-site power generation projects to reduce volatility and increase
consumption of renewable energy at competitive prices.

Despite these measures, if high energy prices prevail over time or if the Group encounters increases or
significant fluctuations in energy costs, insufficient availability of cost-efficient alternative fuels or the violation
of supply agreements, this could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and profitability of
the Group.

Operational risks
Business interruption, production curtailment or loss of assets

Due to the high fixed-cost nature of the building material industry, interruptions in production capabilities at
any of the Group’s facilities may cause a significant decrease in productivity and results of operations during
the affected period. The manufacturing processes of producers of building materials and related services are
dependent upon critical pieces of equipment such as cement kilns, crushers and grinders, as well as inputs (such
as fuel), some of which may be hazardous. On occasion, this equipment may be out of service during periodic
maintenance periods, strikes, unanticipated failures, accidents or force majeure events. In addition, there is a
risk that equipment or production facilities may be damaged or destroyed by such events, any of which could
have an adverse effect on Holcim’s results of operations and financial condition.

Availability of raw materials

The operations of the Group are dependent on the availability of certain raw materials at a suitable quality and
reasonable cost, in particular sand and limestone, as well as mineral additives such as slag and fly ash, which
are used in the manufacture of its products. Accordingly, failure to secure long-term reserves or licences and
permits as well as to obtain raw materials (including mineral components) from third parties at the expected
cost and/or quality, lack of suppliers and scarcity of certain raw materials may adversely impact variable costs
and financial performance and impair our long-term growth outlook. Holcim may be unable to increase selling
prices in response to increases in raw material costs, which may result in a material adverse effect on its results
of operations. In addition, changing market conditions with long lasting increased cost of raw materials might
limit the Group’s ability to reach its CO: reduction target in a cost effective manner. With the development of
the Solutions and Products business segment, the Group’s need for certain raw material, especially oil-derived
components, will grow, leading to a higher dependence on raw material prices or availability.

Information technology and cyber risk

Information technology is embedded into the core business functions of the Group. Interruption of access to
critical IT systems and their associated data, including unauthorised manipulation or disclosure of sensitive
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data, could result in financial loss, reputational damage, and/or negative health, safety or environmental
impacts. In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and its long-lasting impacts, modified business processes
and alternative working locations have exposed a range of technical and human centered vulnerabilities
increasing the risk of loss both from targeted cyber-attacks and data fraud and from operational errors.
Furthermore, the conflict in Ukraine has increased cyber security concerns globally; as the situation unfolds,
new and sophisticated cyber-attacks are being tested and deployed on a daily basis. These are not only being
conducted by nation-state threat actors but by criminal organisations and hacktivists that may want to gain some
benefit or recognition as the one to breach an organisation such as the Group.

Third parties’ performance of logistical services

The Group relies upon third party service providers for certain aspects of its business, particularly the transport
of its products to its customers. The Group’s ability to service its customers at a reasonable cost depends in
many cases upon its ability to negotiate reasonable terms with carriers including railroad, trucking and barge
companies. Due to the heavy weight of its products, the Group expects to incur substantial transportation costs.

To the extent that the Group’s third-party carriers increase their rates, including to reflect higher labour,
maintenance, fuel or other costs they may incur, the Group may be forced to pay such increased rates sooner
than it is able to pass on such increases to customers, if at all. Any material increases in the transportation costs
of Holcim that it is unable to fully pass on to customers could adversely affect its business, results of operations
and financial condition.

In addition, the costs of the Group relating to shipments by barges may be increased as a result of a shortage of
barges and logistical problems resulting from high demand. Any such occurrences could adversely affect the
business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which
contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features and the
related risks:

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

The Final Terms for a particular issue of Notes may provide for early redemption at the option of the Relevant
Issuer. An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the
Relevant Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially
above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate
on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an
effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at
a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

Potential investors should also note that if Clean-Up Event is specified in the relevant Final Terms as applicable,
the Relevant Issuer in certain circumstances has the ability to exercise a “clean up” call in relation to the relevant
series of Notes. If the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of their subsidiaries has/have in the aggregate
purchased or redeemed a series of Notes in aggregate principal amount equal to or in excess of 80 per cent. in
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the principal amount of such series of Notes initially issued (which shall for this purpose include any further
Notes issued pursuant to Condition 13), the Relevant Issuer may then redeem or purchase (or procure the
purchase), at its option, all but not some only of the remaining outstanding Notes of that series at the Clean-Up
Redemption Price specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

The Relevant Issuer may issue Fixed/Floating Rate Notes under the Programme which may bear interest at a
rate that the Relevant Issuer may elect to change from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a
fixed rate. The Relevant Issuer’s ability to change the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the
market value of such Notes since the Relevant Issuer may be expected to change the rate when it is likely to
produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Notes change from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread
on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating
Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the
rates on other Notes. If the Notes change from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than
then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Regulation and reform and discontinuation of Benchmarks on Floating Rate Notes

Reference rates and indices, including interest rate benchmarks, such as EURIBOR, which are used to determine
the amounts payable under financial instruments or the value of such financial instruments (“Benchmarks”),
have, in recent years, been the subject of political and regulatory scrutiny as to how they are created and
operated. This has resulted in regulatory reform and changes to existing Benchmarks, with further changes
anticipated. These reforms and changes may cause a Benchmark to perform differently than it has done in the
past or to be discontinued. Any change in the performance of a Benchmark or its discontinuation, could have a
material adverse effect on any Notes referencing or linked to such Benchmark.

The BMR applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of
a benchmark within the EU. It, among other things, (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or
registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and
(ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or
registered (or, if non-EU-based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of United Kingdom domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the
“UK BMR?”) applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use
of a benchmark within the United Kingdom. It, among other things, (i) requires benchmark administrators to
be authorised or registered (or, if non-United Kingdom based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise
recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by United Kingdom supervised entities of benchmarks of
administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-United Kingdom based, not deemed equivalent
or recognised or endorsed).

The BMR and the UK BMR could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark,
in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the relevant benchmark are changed in order to comply with
the requirements of the BMR and/or the UK BMR. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of
reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a
benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Fallback arrangements for Floating Rate Notes where “SARON Compounded™ is not specified as the relevant
Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms
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Where “SARON Compounded” is not specified as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms,
in the event that a Benchmark Event (as defined in the Conditions) occurs in relation to an Original Reference
Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such
Original Reference Rate, then the Relevant Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult
with an Independent Adviser, with the view to the Relevant Issuer determining a Successor Rate or Alternative
Rate and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, to be used in place of the Original Reference Rate.

The use of a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate to determine the Rate of Interest is likely to result in Notes
initially linked to or referencing the Original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include
payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would do if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to
apply in its current form.

Furthermore, if a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate for the Original Reference Rate is determined by the
Relevant Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner, the Conditions provide that the Relevant Issuer may vary the Conditions, as
necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, without any requirement
for consent or approval of the Noteholders.

If a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate is determined by the Relevant Issuer, following consultation with the
Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, the Conditions also
provide that an Adjustment Spread may be determined by the Relevant Issuer and applied to such Successor
Rate or Alternative Rate. Where “SOFR” is not specified as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final
Terms, the Adjustment Spread is (i) the spread, formula or methodology which is formally recommended in
relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating
Body (which may include a relevant central bank, supervisory authority or group of central banks/supervisory
authorities), (ii) if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate, the spread,
formula or methodology which the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and
acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is customarily applied to the relevant Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce
an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate, or (iii) if the Issuer determines that no
such spread is customarily applied, the spread, formula or methodology which the Issuer determines, following
consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is
recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions or is in
customary market usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the Original
Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case
may be). Where “SOFR” is specified as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms, the
Adjustment Spread is (i) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the
Relevant Governmental Body for the Successor Rate (SOFR) or Alternative Rate (SOFR) (as the case may be),
(ii) if the applicable Successor Rate (SOFR) is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, then the ISDA Spread
Adjustment, or (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) determined by
the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially
reasonable manner, giving due consideration to any industry accepted spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current SOFR with the
applicable Successor Rate (SOFR) or Alternative Rate (SOFR) (as the case may be) for U.S. dollar-denominated
floating rate notes at such time.

Accordingly, the application of an Adjustment Spread may result in the Notes performing differently (which
may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would do if the Original Reference Rate were to
continue to apply in its current form. Further, it may not be possible to determine or apply an Adjustment Spread.
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If no Adjustment Spread can be determined, a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate may nonetheless be used to
determine the Rate of Interest.

The Relevant Issuer may be unable to appoint an Independent Adviser and/or may not be able to determine a
Successor Rate or Alternative Rate in accordance with the Conditions.

Where the Relevant Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser in a timely manner, or the Relevant
Issuer (in consultation with the Independent Adviser) is unable to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative
Rate before the next Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for the next succeeding Interest Accrual
Period shall be determined using the Original Reference Rate last displayed on the Relevant Screen Page or last
available (as applicable) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date.

Where the Relevant Issuer has been unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or, has failed, to determine a
Successor Rate or Alternative Rate in respect of any given Interest Accrual Period, it will continue to attempt
to appoint an Independent Adviser in a timely manner before the next succeeding Interest Determination Date
and/or to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate to apply the next succeeding and any subsequent
Interest Accrual Periods, as necessary.

Applying the Original Rate of Interest last displayed on the Relevant Screen Page or last available (as
applicable) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date is likely to result in Notes linked to or referencing
the relevant benchmark performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than
they would do if the relevant benchmark were to continue to apply, or if a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
could be determined.

If the Relevant Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or the Relevant Issuer (in consultation with
the Independent Adviser) fails to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate for the life of the relevant
Notes, the Original Reference Rate last displayed on the Relevant Screen Page or last available (as applicable)
prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date will continue to apply to maturity. This will result in the
Floating Rate Notes, in effect, becoming fixed rate securities.

Fallback arrangements for Floating Rate Notes where “SARON Compounded™ is specified as the relevant
Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms

Where “SARON Compounded” is specified as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms, in the
event that a SARON Index Cessation Event and a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date have both occurred
at or prior to the Specified Time on any Zurich Banking Day (each as defined in the Conditions), for the purposes
of determining SARON Compounded, the Calculation Agent for the relevant Notes will be required to use the
alternative methods for the purpose of determining the Swiss Average Rate Overnight on such Zurich Business
Day as described in the definition thereof, which include using a replacement rate recommended by a SARON
Recommending Replacement Rate Body (as defined in the Conditions), using the SNB Policy Rate (as defined
in the Conditions) or, if the Replacement Rate Agent (or, failing whom, the Issuer) has determined a replacement
rate pursuant to Condition 5(n) of the Conditions, using such replacement rate.

The use of a SARON Recommended Replacement Rate, the SNB Policy Rate or the SARON Replacement
Rate to determine the Rate of Interest is likely to result in Notes initially linked to or referencing the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than
they would do if the Swiss Average Rate Overnight remained available in the form it is in on the relevant Issue
Date.

Furthermore, if a SARON Recommended Replacement Rate, the SNB Policy Rate or a SARON Replacement
Rate is used in place of the Swiss Average Rate Overnight, the Conditions provide that the Calculation Agent
(in the case of a SARON Recommended Replacement Rate or the SNB Policy Rate), or the Replacement Rate
Agent (in the case of a SARON Replacement Rate) may determine any changes to the Conditions and/or the
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Agency Agreement as are necessary to use the SARON Recommended Replacement Rate or the SNB Policy
Rate or to implement the SARON Replacement Rate, as applicable, and the Issuer will amend the Conditions
and the Agency Agreement to reflect such changes without any requirement for consent or approval of the
Noteholders.

If a SARON Recommended Replacement Rate, the SNB Policy Rate or a SARON Replacement Rate is used
in place of the Swiss Average Rate Overnight, the Conditions also provide that the SARON Recommended
Adjustment Spread (in the case of the SARON Recommended Replacement Rate), the SNB Adjustment Spread
(in the case of the SNB Policy Rate) or any Adjustment Spread (SARON) determined by the Replacement Rate
Agent (in the case of the SARON Replacement Rate) will be determined and applied to the SARON
Recommended Replacement Rate, the SNB Policy Rate or the SARON Replacement Rate respectively.

The above-described provisions may result in the use of a reference rate that is not the same as the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight for the calculation of the interest rate on the relevant Notes for the remainder of the
term of such Notes and such rate may have different characteristics from the Swiss Average Rate Overnight as
at the Issue Date. Furthermore, any exercise by the Replacement Rate Agent (or, failing whom, the Issuer) of
the discretion described in Condition 5(n) could adversely affect the market price for the relevant Notes.

Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, the Notes. See
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Interest and other Calculations — Benchmark discontinuation (General)”
and “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Interest and other Calculations — Replacement Rate (SARON)”.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including SONIA, SOFR, €STR and
SARON) as reference rates for floating rate Notes

Nascent risk-free rates and market

Investors should be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates, such as SONIA,
SOFR, €STR and the Swiss Average Rate Overnight, as reference rates in the capital markets for Sterling, U.S.
dollar, Euro or CHF bonds, as applicable, and their adoption as alternatives to the relevant interbank offered
rates.

SONIA and the Swiss Average Rate Overnight are recently reformed, and SOFR and €STR are newly
established, risk-free rates. For example, the Federal Reserve began to publish SOFR in April 2018 and although
the New York Federal Reserve has also begun publishing historical indicative SOFR going back to 2014, such
historical indicative data inherently involves assumptions, estimates and approximations. Therefore, such risk-
free rates have a limited performance history and the future performance of such risk-free rates is impossible to
predict. As a consequence no future performance of the relevant risk-free rate or Notes referencing such risk-
free rate may be inferred from any of the hypothetical or actual historical performance data. In addition,
investors should be aware that risk-free rates may behave materially differently to interbank offered rates as
interest reference rates. For example, since publication of SOFR began daily changes in SOFR have, on
occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in comparable benchmarks or other market rates.

Calculation of Interest

Interest is calculated on the basis of the compounded risk-free rate or an arithmetic average of the risk-free rate
(for example Compounded SOFR, which is calculated using the relevant specific formula set out in the
Conditions, not the risk-free rate published on or in respect of a particular date during such Interest Accrual
Period or Observation Period, as the case may be). For this and other reasons, the interest rate on the Notes
during any Interest Accrual Period will not be the same as the interest rate on other investments linked to the
risk-free rate that use an alternative basis to determine the applicable interest rate.
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In addition, market conventions for calculating the interest rate for bonds referencing risk-free rates continue
to develop and market participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based
on risk-free rates. For example, on 2 March 2020, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as administrator of
SOFR, began publishing the SOFR Compounded Index, and on 3 August 2020, the Bank of England, as the
administrator of SONIA, began publishing the SONIA Compounded Index. Accordingly, the specific formula
for calculating the rate used in the Notes issued under this Prospectus may not be widely adopted by other
market participants, if at all. The Relevant Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing risk-free rates
that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes referencing
risk-free rate rates issued by it. If the market adopts a different calculation method, that could adversely affect
the market value of Notes issued pursuant to this Prospectus.

Interest on Notes which reference a risk-free rate is only capable of being determined immediately prior to the
relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference risk-free rates to
reliably estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes. Further, if the Notes become due
and payable under Condition 10, or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment
Date, the Rate of Interest payable shall be determined on the date the Notes became due and payable and shall
not be reset thereafter.

Each risk-free rate is published and calculated by third parties based on data received from other sources and
the Relevant Issuer has no control over their respective determinations, calculations or publications. There can
be no guarantee that the relevant risk-free rate (or the SOFR Compounded Index or the SONIA Compounded
Index) will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to the interests
of investors in Notes linked to or which reference such risk-free rate (or that any applicable benchmark fallback
provisions provided for in the Conditions of the Notes will provide a rate which is economically equivalent for
Holders). None of the Bank of England, the Federal Reserve, the European Central Bank or SIX Index AG have
an obligation to consider the interests of Holders in calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing
the relevant risk-free rate (or the SOFR Compounded Index or SONIA Compounded Index). If the manner in
which the relevant risk-free rate is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount
of interest payable on such Notes and the trading prices of such Notes.

Market Adoption

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk-free rates that differs significantly
from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that reference a risk-free rate issued under this
Prospectus. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates
in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they
may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The Relevant Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme at a substantial discount or premium. The market
values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to fluctuate more
in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities.
Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to
conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Notes issued as Sustainability-Linked Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking
exposure to assets with sustainability characteristics

The Relevant Issuer may issue Sustainability-Linked Notes under the Programme with the interest rate relating
to such Notes being subject to an upward adjustment or a premium amount being payable in the event the Group
does not achieve the relevant Sustainability Performance Target (as defined in Condition 5(1)). Any
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Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the Programme may not satisfy an investor's requirements or any
future legal, quasi legal or other standards for investment in assets with sustainability characteristics. In
particular, any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the Programme may not be marketed as “green bonds”,
“social bonds” or “sustainability bonds” as the net proceeds of the issue of such Notes may be used for the
Group's general corporate purposes, which may include the refinancing of existing indebtedness. Neither the
Relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor commits to (i) allocate the net proceeds of any Sustainability-Linked Notes
issued under the Programme specifically to projects or business activities meeting sustainability criteria or (ii)
be subject to any other limitations or requirements that may be associated with green bonds, social bonds or
sustainability bonds in any particular market in connection with the issuance of any Sustainability-Linked Notes
under the Programme.

In addition, any interest rate adjustment or payment of a premium in respect of any Sustainability-Linked Notes
as contemplated by Condition 5(I) will depend on the Group achieving, or not achieving, the relevant
Sustainability Performance Target(s), which may be inconsistent with or insufficient to satisfy investor
requirements or expectations. Prospective investors in any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the
Programme should have regard to the information set out herein and must determine for themselves the
relevance of such information for the purpose of any investment in such Notes, together with any other
investigation such investor deems necessary.

The Group’s Sustainability Performance Targets relating to any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the
Programme will be aimed at reducing Carbon Intensity and/or Specific Freshwater Withdrawal (each as defined
in Condition 5(1)). The Group's Sustainability Performance Targets would therefore be uniquely tailored to the
Group’s business, operations and capabilities, and they do not easily lend themselves to benchmarking against
similar sustainability performance targets, and the related performance, of other issuers. No assurance is or can
be given to investors by the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the relevant Dealers, any second party opinion
providers or any External Verifier (as defined in Condition 5(I)) that any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued
under the Programme Notes will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such Notes or any
Sustainability Performance Target(s) of the Group qualifying as “green”, “social”, “sustainable” or
“sustainability-linked” or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur in
connection with the Group striving to achieve any Sustainability Performance Target(s) or the use of the net
proceeds from the offering of any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the Programme.

No assurance or representation is given by the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Dealers, any second party
opinion providers or any External Verifier as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of
any opinion, report, certification or validation of any third party in connection with the offering of any
Sustainability-Linked Notes or any Sustainability Performance Target to fulfil any green, social,
sustainability, sustainability-linked and/or other criteria. Any such opinion, report or certification is not, nor
shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Prospectus.

The Relevant Issuer may, in connection with an issuance of Sustainability-Linked Notes under the Programme,
obtain a second party opinion or other similar opinion, certification and validation. Second party opinion
providers and providers of similar opinions, certifications and validations are not currently subject to any
specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Any such opinion or certification would not be, nor should it
be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the relevant Dealers, any second
party opinion providers, any External \erifier or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Sustainability-Linked
Notes. Noteholders would have no recourse against the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, any of the relevant
Dealers or any provider of any such opinion or certification for the contents of any such opinion or certification,
which is only current as at the date it is initially issued. Prospective investors must determine for themselves
the relevance of any such opinion, certification or validation and/or the information contained therein and/or
the provider of such opinion, certification or validation for the purpose of any investment in any Sustainability-
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Linked Notes issued under the Programme. Any withdrawal of any such opinion or certification or any such
opinion, certification attesting that the Group is not complying in whole or in part with any matters for which
such opinion, certification or validation is opining on or certifying on may have a material adverse effect on the
value of any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the Programme and/or result in adverse consequences
for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose.

Although in connection with the issuance of any Sustainability-Linked Notes under the Programme the
Guarantor may intend to reduce the Group’s Carbon Intensity and/or Specific Freshwater Withdrawal, there can
be no assurance of the extent to which it will be successful in doing so, that it will not decide to discontinue the
relevant Sustainability Performance Target(s) or that any future investments it makes in furtherance of such
Sustainability Performance Target(s) will meet investor expectations or any binding or non-binding legal
standards regarding sustainability performance, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations
or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to
any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact. Although if the relevant Sustainability
Performance Target is not met it will give rise to an upward adjustment of the interest rate relating to the relevant
Sustainability-Linked Notes or to the payment of a premium amount in respect of the relevant Sustainability-
Linked Notes as described in Condition 5(1), it will not be an Event of Default under such Notes nor will the
Relevant Issuer be required to repurchase or redeem any such Notes in such circumstances.

The Group’s efforts in achieving any Sustainability Performance Target may further become controversial or
be criticised by activist groups or other stakeholders.

Achieving any Sustainability Performance Target or any similar sustainability performance targets will
require the Group to expend significant resources, while not meeting any such targets would result in
increased interest payments and could expose the Group to reputational risks

Achieving the Sustainability Performance Target(s) in relation to any Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under
the Programme would require the Group to reduce its Carbon Intensity by a specified percentage from the
Carbon Intensity for the reporting year 2018 and/or to reduce its Specific Freshwater Withdrawal by a specified
percentage from the Specific Freshwater Withdrawal for the reporting year 2018 by a specified date. As a result,
achieving the Sustainability Performance Target(s) or any similar sustainability performance targets the Group
may choose to include in future financings or other arrangements will require the Group to expend significant
resources.

In addition, the Group not achieving its Sustainability Performance Target(s) or any such similar sustainability
performance targets the Group may choose to include in any future financings would not only result in increased
interest payments under the Notes or other relevant financing arrangements, but could also harm the Group’s
reputation, the consequences of which could, in each case, have a material adverse effect on the Group, its
business prospects, its financial condition or its results of operations.

The Group's ability and autonomy to calculate its Key Performance Indicators

Carbon Intensity, Specific Freshwater Withdrawal and cementitious material are calculated and not measured
numbers. The CO,, freshwater withdrawal and cementitious material calculations are carried out internally, i.e.
by the Group itself, based on broadly accepted standards and reported externally. The Group currently follows
the CO; and reporting guidelines of the Global Cement and Concrete Association (“GCCA”), an industry body.
These guidelines are based on the European Standards CEN Standard EN 19694-34 (Determination of
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions in energy intensive industries — Part 3: Cement industry). In relation to
freshwater withdrawal, the Group currently also follows the water in cement manufacturing reporting guidelines
of the GCCA. Such industry-wide accepted standards may evolve over time. Those standards are discussed by
expert groups and include contributions from industry bodies, in which the Group is an active member. As a
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full member of the GCCA, the Group has committed to attaining full compliance with the GCCA Sustainability
Charter which refers to the CO; reporting guidelines of the Global Cement and Concrete Association (GCCA)
/ CEN Standard EN 19694-34 and the water in cement manufacturing reporting guidelines of the GCCA.

As part of the GCCA Sustainability Charter, environmental performance indicators must be externally verified
using recognised, independent third party assurance practitioners. The respective assurance statement is
considered as part of the normal annual sustainability performance reporting cycle. The GCCA Sustainability
Charter is expected to be reviewed every three years. An external audit of Charter implementation is expected
to be commissioned by the GCCA every four years.

The Group currently defines “cementitious material” following the Cement Sustainability Initiative (CSI) /
Global Cement and Concrete Association (GCCA) definition as total clinker produced plus mineral components
consumed for blending and production of cement substitutes, including clinker sold, excluding clinker bought.

The standards and guidelines mentioned above may change over time and potential investors in any
Sustainability-Linked Notes issued under the Programme should be aware that the way in which the Group
calculates its Key Performance Indicators may also change over time.

The Group may unilaterally change the Sustainability Performance Baseline(s) applicable to any
Sustainability-Linked Notes as a consequence of the occurrence of certain events, including a Recalculation
Event

As mentioned in “— The Group's ability and autonomy to calculate its Key Performance Indicators” above,
the industry-wide accepted references on which the Group bases its calculation methodology for COp,
freshwater withdrawal and cementitious material may evolve over time and may result in a change to the scope
of the Group’s Sustainability Performance Baseline(s) (as defined in Condition 5(1)). The occurrence of a
significant change to the structure of the Group, or a significant change in methodology in calculation of Carbon
Intensity and/or Specific Freshwater Withdrawal that requires a recalculation of Carbon Intensity and/or
Specific Freshwater Withdrawal respectively for any reporting year (such event referred to under the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes as a “Recalculation Event”) may cause an amendment by the relevant Issuer, on an
unilateral basis, of the relevant Sustainability Performance Baseline. If such a Recalculation Event occurs, the
relevant Issuer may unilaterally amend the relevant Sustainability Performance Baseline, and such amended
Sustainability Performance Baseline will be taken into account for the purposes of ascertaining whether or not
a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event shall occur in respect of the relevant Sustainability-Linked Notes.

The occurrence of any such Recalculation Event may impact, positively or negatively, the ability of the relevant
Issuer to achieve the relevant Sustainability Performance Target(s), which could in turn adversely affect the
market price of the Notes and/or the reputation of the Group.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

The Group may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future

The Group may incur substantial additional indebtedness, including in connection with capital expenditure
programmes and future acquisitions. The terms of the Notes will not limit the amount of indebtedness the Group
may incur. Any such incurrence of additional indebtedness could exacerbate the related risks that the Group
now faces or pose new risks not described in this Prospectus.

Modification, waivers and substitution

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders
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including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Obligors may, without the consent of Noteholders,
agree to (i) any modification of the Agency Agreement that is of a formal, minor or technical nature or which
is made to correct a manifest error; (ii) any other modification, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or
proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement that could not reasonably be expected
to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or (iii) the substitution of another company that is the
Guarantor or subsidiary of the Guarantor as principal debtor under any Notes, Coupons and Talons in place of
an Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 11 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Reform of Swiss federal withholding tax system

On 3 April 2020, the Swiss Federal Council published draft legislation and opened a consultation procedure
regarding the reform of the Swiss federal withholding tax system. The draft legislation, if enacted in its current
form, would replace the current debtor-based regime applicable to interest payments with a paying agent-based
regime for Swiss federal withholding tax. Generally speaking, the proposed paying agent-based regime would
(i) subject all interest payments made through paying agents in Switzerland to individuals resident in
Switzerland to Swiss federal withholding tax and (ii) exempt from Swiss federal withholding tax interest
payments to all other persons, including to Swiss-domiciled legal entities and foreign investors (other than for
indirect interest payments via foreign and domestic collective investments vehicles). If such a new paying agent-
based regime were to be enacted and were to result in the deduction or withholding of Swiss federal withholding
tax on any interest payments in respect of the Notes, the Noteholders would not be entitled to receive any
additional amounts as a result of such deduction or withholding under the terms of the Notes. However, the
results of the consultation, which ended on 10 July 2020, were controversial. Consequently, on 15 April 2021,
the Swiss Federal Council submitted new draft legislation on the reform of the Swiss federal withholding tax
system providing for the abolition of Swiss federal withholding tax on interest payments on bonds for
submission to the Swiss Federal Parliament, which legislation was accepted by the Swiss Parliament on 17
December 2021. The entry into force of such legislation is still subject to a referendum. If the legislation is
approved in the referendum, it will enter into force on 1 January 2023. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a new
paying agent-based regime were nevertheless to be enacted as contemplated by the draft legislation published
on 3 April 2020 and were to result in the deduction or withholding of Swiss federal withholding tax on any
payment in respect of a Note by any person in Switzerland other than the Issuer, the holder of such Note would
not be entitled to any additional amounts with respect to such Note as a result of such deduction or withholding
under the Conditions.

Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by English law, and the Guarantee is governed by Swiss
law, both in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of
any possible judicial decision or change to English law or to Swiss law or administrative practice or any change
in law (including taxation law) relating to the jurisdiction of the Noteholders after the date of issue of the
relevant Notes.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a denomination consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination
plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in the
clearing systems in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such
a case, should definitive Notes be required to be issued, Noteholders who hold Notes in the relevant clearing
system in amounts that are less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a definitive Note in
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respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of
Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.

Enforcement of English court judgments in Luxembourg will be subject to potential additional
procedural requirements following the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the EU

Following the end of the transition period under the Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Northern Ireland from the EU on 31 December 2020, Regulation (EU) 1215/2012 of 12
December 2012 on jurisdiction and the recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial
matters (the “Brussels | Recast”) no longer applies to United Kingdom or English court judgments, meaning
that a final civil or commercial judgment rendered against an Issuer in the English courts can no longer be
recognised or enforced in EU courts (including in Luxembourg courts) under the Brussels | Recast.

Instead, enforcement in Luxembourg of a final civil or commercial judgment rendered in the English courts
would be subject to either (i) the applicable enforcement proceedings provided for in the Hague Convention of
30 June 2005 on Choice of Court Agreements (the “Convention”), where the Convention applies or (ii) where
the Convention does not apply, the applicable Luxembourg ordinary rules on enforcement (exequatur) of
foreign judgments as laid down in Article 678 of the Luxembourg nouveau Code de procedure civile.

The Convention only applies in circumstances where the relevant contractual agreement provides for an
exclusive choice of court agreement, being a “two-way” exclusive jurisdiction clause. As the Notes do not
provide for such two-way exclusive jurisdiction clauses, the Convention will not apply and a final civil or
commercial judgment obtained in the courts of England against an Issuer will be enforceable in Luxembourg
subject to the Luxembourg ordinary rules on enforcement (exequatur) referred to above. Those rules will require
the completion of potentially more burdensome proceedings compared to the situation prior to the end of the
Brexit transition period referred to above; however, the Luxembourg courts will not review the merits of the
English judgment, even although there is no statutory prohibition of such review.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest
rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This
is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, and are
designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment
requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited
secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely
adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Relevant Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme in any currency. The Relevant Issuer will pay
principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency
conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the
“Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may
significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the
Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or
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modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to the Specified
Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes; (2) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes; and (3) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market value
of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could
adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than
expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

The Relevant Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme which pay a fixed Rate of Interest. Investment in
Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the
value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes. The ratings may
not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above and
other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. If the status of the credit rating agency rating the Notes
changes, European and United Kingdom regulated investors may no longer be able to use the rating for
regulatory purposes and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment. This may result in European and
United Kingdom regulated investors selling the Notes which may impact the value of the Notes and any
secondary market. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised,
suspended or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or
regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether
and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it; (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types
of borrowing; and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions
should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes
under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following sections of the following documents, which have previously been published or are published
simultaneously with this Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF, are hereby incorporated by reference
in, and form part of, this Prospectus.

For the purposes of the approval of this Prospectus by the Swiss Review Body, only the sections of the
documents Half-Year Report 2022, Half-Year 2022 Analyst Presentation, Annual Report 2021, Media Releases,
2021 Analyst Presentation and Annual Report 2020 listed below and the Incorporated Terms and Conditions
(which documents and Incorporated Terms and Conditions have been filed with the Swiss Review Body) are
hereby incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus. The information in all other documents
listed below does not form part of this Prospectus as approved by the Swiss Review Body under the FinSA and
has neither been approved nor reviewed by the Swiss Review Body.

The tables below set out the relevant page references for the information incorporated herein by reference. The
information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered as additional
information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2019/980.

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with:

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s half-year report and unaudited condensed
consolidated 2022 half-year financial statements for the six-month period ended 30 June 2022 (the
“Half-Year Report 2022”") (available at https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-07/27072022-
finance-holcim_h1 2022 report-en-1796246884.pdf)

Condensed consolidated statement of income of Holcim ..........c.cccceevennee. Page 14
Condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Holcim ....  Page 15
Condensed consolidated statement of financial position of Holcim ............. Pages 16-17
Condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity of Holcim ............. Page 18
Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows of Holcim ....................... Page 19
Principal eXChange FateS.........coereiireieiiseseerie e anens Page 20
Notes to the interim condensed consolidated financial statements of 21-34
HOICTM. e et ne Pages

Independent auditor’s report on the review of interim condensed 35
consolidated financial statements of HOICIM..........cc.ccoviiiiiinciince Page

Definition 0f NON-GAAP MEASUIES .......cceriiieieiine et Pages 36-38
Reconciliation of NON-GAAP MEASUIES .......cceervervrrereerereseereeseesieseessessesnens Pages 39-40
Responsibility StatemMent ..........coco i Page 41

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s annual report and accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (the “Annual Report 20217) (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/25022022-finance-holcim_fy 2021 report-full-
en.pdf)

BUSINESS IMOGE ......euveiiecieiecteece et ene s Pages 26-27
COrpOrate gOVEIMANCE ........oouviriieiieesieeieesieete st see ettt sieesbeesbeesbeesbeeneannas Pages 82-105
RiSK @and CONLIOL .......uoiuiiiiiciece s Pages 106-121
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FINANCING ACTIVITY ...cveiiiciecc e Pages 153-155

Consolidated statement of income of HOICIM ..o, Page 174
Consolidated statement of comprehensive earnings of Holcim .................... Page 175
Consolidated statement of financial position of Holcim.........c..cccccoevvennnee. Pages 176-177
Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Holcim.........c.cccooeiiiene. Pages 178-179
Consolidated statement of cash flows of Holcim..........ccccovvvvvicieicnciecnn, Page 180
Notes to the consolidated financial statements of Holcim ...............cccccceei. Pages 182-262

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements of

[ (0] [0 T 0 o PSSR Pages 263-269
Statement of income of Holcim Ltd.........ccccooiiiiiiii e, Page 270
Statement of financial position of Holcim Ltd............ccocoovvivivcievcieiccien, Page 271
Notes to the statutory financial statements of Holcim Ltd (including data

as required under Art. 663 b and ¢ of the Swiss Code of Obligations).......... Pages 272-276
Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements of Holcim Ltd...  Pages 278-279
Definition of NON-GAAP MEASUIES........eeireeieieiierie et eiee e sie e Pages 282-284
Reconciliation of NON-GAAP MEASUIES .......ceivereiririerierienieeieeieeie e Page 285

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s annual report and accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Annual Report 2020”) (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/26022021-finance-
lafageholcim_fy_2020_report-full-en.pdf)

BUIlding TOr GrOWLEN.........coiiiiiiiiccc e Pages 18-19
62-67 and 98-
RiSK @Nd CONEIOL .....ceiiiiiieie e Pages 113
COrporate gOVEIMANCE ........ecvereierieerieerieeseeaeeseesseesteesseessesseesseesseesseeseessesnees Pages 76-97
FINANCING ACTIVITY ...c.viitiiieiicieeee e e Pages 145-147
Consolidated statement of income of LafargeHolcim..........c.ccccoevvverennnnne. Page 162
Consolidated statement of comprehensive earnings of LafargeHolcim........ Page 163
Consolidated statement of financial position of LafargeHolcim................... Pages 164-165
Consolidated statement of changes in equity of LafargeHolcim................... Pages 166-167
Consolidated statement of cash flows of LafargeHolcim...........c..cccccoeenee. Page 168
Notes to the consolidated financial statements of LafargeHolcim ................ Pages 170-256
Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements of
LafargeHOICIM ..o Pages 250-256
Statement of income of LafargeHolcim Ltd.........c.ccoocvvvivniviincccicce e, Page 257
Statement of financial position of LafargeHolcim Ltd............cccccooeiiiinennn. Page 258

Notes to the statutory financial statements of LafargeHolcim Ltd
(including data as required under Art. 663 b and ¢ of the Swiss Code of
(@] o] T LA T3 L T SS Pages 259-268
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Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements of

LafargeHOICIM LEd.......cooieieiiceceee e Pages 269-270
Definition 0f NON-GAAP MEASUIES.........eeereeieeinerie et eeie e eneas Pages 273-274
Reconciliation of NON-GAAP MEASUIES ......cvcvververieriesiesieieeeeseeieseesseseennens Page 275

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s media release entitled “Profitable growth
continues with record results” published on 27 July 2022 (the “Half-Year 2022 Results Media Release™)

(available at https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-07/27072022-press_finance-
holcim_h1_2022_results-en-9329988741.pdf)

Performance OVErVIEW HL..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiceee e Pages 1-2
Record net sales and Recurring EBIT .......cccoveveieneve v Page 2
Strong progress on portfolio transformation ............cccccevvevviviinccevcse e, Page 2
Further strengthening leadership in sustainability...........cc.ccooooiiiinniinns Pages 2-3
L@ 114 o] S Page 3
KEY GrOUP TIQUIBS. ... ettt Pages 3-4
Regional H1 performance ..........cccocovvveiiiesiieiescse s Pages 4-6
Reconciliation to0 Group aCCOUNTS ........eiiririciieiere et Pages 6-7
NON-GAAP AefiNItiONS. .....ocveiee e Pages 7-9

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s analyst presentation entitled “H1 2022
Results” published on 27 July 2022 (the “Half-Year 2022 Analyst Presentation”) (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-07/27072022-finance-
holcim_h1_2022_analyst_presentation-en-9395904408.pdf)

Highlights and key developments .........c.cooiiieieiiniie e Pages 2-9
Financial highlghts........cccvciii e Pages 10-24
Outlook and GUIAANCE 2022..........cceiuiiiieiieeieee e e Pages 25-26

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s media release entitled “Record Results,
Strategy 2022 Achieved One Year in Advance” published on 25 February 2022 (the “2021 Results Media
Release”, and together with the Half-Year 2022 Results Media Release, the “Media Releases™)
(available at https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-03/25022022-press_finance-
holcim_fy_2021_results-en.pdf)

PerformanCe OVEIVIBW ...........coiiiiiiiiieii et Pages 1-2
Record Financial Performance Page 2
Accelerating Expansion of Solutions & Products.............ccccvverveieiencienens Page 2-3
Further strengthening leadership in sustainability............cc.cccoceveiiiiiniinnnnns Page 3
Changes in the Executive COMMILEE .........cccovvieeieiiiiieieeeeeee e Pages 3
Outlook and GUIdANCE 2022..........cccevevereiieeeeee e ees Page 3-4
Key Group figuIes 2021 ........ooiiiiiiieienie et Pages 4-5
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-03/25022022-press_finance-holcim_fy_2021_results-en.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-03/25022022-press_finance-holcim_fy_2021_results-en.pdf

Regional PerfOrmManCe .......c.ccveieieieii st Pages 5-6

Other Profit & LOSS IBMS ...c..ciuiiiiiiiie et Pages 6-7
Reconciliation t0 Group aCCOUNTS .........eiiiiiiciieieere e Pages 7-8
NON-GAAP DEFINITIONS......ccveiiie e Pages 8-10
Additional information ... Page 10

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Ltd’s analyst presentation entitled “Full-year 2021
Results” published on 25 February 2022 (the *“2021 Analyst Presentation”) (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/2022-03/25022022-finance-

holcim_fy 2021 analyst_presentation-en.pdf)

Highlights and Key DeVelopments .........cccveverierereresesese e seesie e Pages 2-11
Financial Highlights........cocooiii e Pages 12-31
Outlook and GUIdANCE 2022..........ccceeverereiieieeee e sre s Pages 32-33
Reconciliation of NON-GAAP MEASUIES ........ceiueruererierienieriesieeieeie e sie e Pages 35

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/holcim_finance_luxembourg_sa_-
_annual_report_2021.pdf)

Report of the Réviseur d’ENtreprises Agré€.........covvvvvvrivieeivereesesesesesnens Pages 2-6
Statement of Profit Or 10SS ......ccoevviieii i Page 11
Statement of comprehensive INCOME.........cooviiiiiiinciie e Page 11
Statement of financial POSItION.........ccccvivviviiieiice e Page 12
Statement of changes iN eQUILY ..ot Page 13
Statement of Cash FIOWS ........cocoveviiie i Page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements ... Pages 15-28

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/2020_12_31_hflu_signed_financial
_statements_2.pdf)

Report of the Réviseur d’ENtreprises Agré€........ccocveviiereresieniereseseresennens Pages 2-6
Statement of Profit Or 10SS ......ccoevviieii i Page 11
Statement of comprehensive INCOME.........cooviiiiiiiincise e Page 11
Statement of financial POSItION.........ccccvivviviieiic e Page 12
Statement of changes iN eQUILY ...t Page 13
Statement of Cash FIOWS ........c.coveviiiii e Page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements ..ot Pages 15-27

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S.’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 (available at
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/holcim_us_finance_sarl_cie_scs_annual_report
_2021.pdf)

Report of the Réviseur d’ENtreprises Agré€.........coovvvvvrviieeieeieesesesiesesnens Pages 2-6
Statement of Profit OF 10SS.........cooviiiiiiiiec Page 11
Statement of comprehensive INCOME........cccveveiere s Page 11
Statement of financial POSItION...........coooiiiiiiie e Page 12
Statement of changes iN EQUILY ........cccoviiiiiiiiiee e Page 13
Statement of Cash FIOWS ........cocoveviiiiicc e Page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements ... Pages 15-25

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S.’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (available
https://www.holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/2020_12 31 scsl_signed_financial _
statements_1.pdf)

Report of the Réviseur d’ENtreprises Agré€.........covvvvvierivrivevereeresesiesesnens Pages 2-6
Statement of Profit OF 10SS.........oovviiiiiiii e Page 11
Statement of comprehensive INCOME........cccveveieie i Page 11
Statement of financial POSItION...........coooiiiiiiiie e Page 12
Statement of changes iN EQUILY .....cccoovvvvieiecece e Page 13
Statement of €ash fIOWS ..o Page 14
Notes to the Financial Statements...........ccovvvveierini s Pages 15-28

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Finance US LLC’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/holcim_finance_us_llc_financial_statements_20
21.pdf)

Independent AUdItors’ REPOIT ........ooviiiiiiiieic e Pages (PDF

format) 3-4
Statement of Profit Or 10SS........cevviieiiii e Page (PDF

format) 5
Statement of comprehensive (10SS) OF INCOME ........ocovviiiiniiiiieee e, Page (PDF

format) 5
Statement of financial POSItION.........cccovivviviii e Page (PDF

format) 6
Statement of changes in equity (defiCit).........ccoovvvniiiiiiiiee Page (PDF

format) 6
Statement of Cash FIOWS ........c.coveriiiiic e Page (PDF

format) 7
Notes to the Financial Statements ... Pages (PDF

format) 8-16
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Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/Ihfus_ifrs_financial_statements_202
0-opinion.pdf)

Independent AUdItOrs” REPOIT ........oviiiiiiiiereee e Page (PDF

format) 3
Statement of 10SS OF Profit........ccccvieiiiiiiiei e Page (PDF

format) 4
Statement of comprehensive (10SS) OF INCOME ........ocooviiriniinice e, Page (PDF

format) 4
Statement of financial POSItION..........ccoccvviviiciice e Page (PDF

format) 5
Statement of changes in equity (defiCit).........ccooeiiiiiiiiiii e, Page (PDF

format) 5
Statement of Cash FlOWS ........cocveriii i Page (PDF

format) 6
Notes to the Financial Statements...........coooeieiiiii i Page (PDF

format) 7-15

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 (available at
holcim_sterling_finance_netherlands_bv_AR2021.pdf)

BalanCe SNEEL.........ciiiieiii e Page 6
Profit and LOSS ACCOUNT .........coeiiiiiiiiieiti et Page 7
Cash fIOW StateMENT .........ccv e s Page 8
Notes to the Financial Statements...........cooeoeieiiiiiiine e Pages 9-19
Other information (including the Independent Auditors’ Report) ................. Pages 20-27

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (available at https://www.
holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/lafargeholcim_sterling_finance_netherlands_bv.

pdf)

BalanCe SNEEL.........coiiiiiiiee e Page 6
Profit and LOSS ACCOUNT.........ccueieiiriire e eie et nre e anens Page 7
Cash fIOW StateMENT .........ccv e s Page 8
Notes to the Financial Statements...........coooeieiiiiiei e Pages 9-18
Other information (including the Independent Auditors’ Report) ................. Pages 19-24

Terms and Conditions (the “Incorporated Terms and Conditions™) (available at www.holcim.com/bond-
documents-emtn)

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant
Issuers and the Guarantor dated 14 May 2012 (available at Pages 39-67
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_b
ase_prospectus_dated 14 may 2012.pdf) ...ccooeeiiiiiiiiienee e,

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 14 May 2013 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_Ih_emtn_b
ase_prospectus_dated 14 may 2013.pdf) .coccevrereiirie i Pages 79-108

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 18 May 2016 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_Ih_emtn_b
ase_prospectus_dated 18 may 2016.pdf) ...ccevveveririerie e Pages 38-66

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 19 May 2017 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_b

ase_prospectus_dated_19 may_2017.pdf) ....cooeoiriineiiiiineieee Pages 37-65

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 17 May 2018 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_b
ase_prospectus_dated 17 _may 2018.pdf) ....coooeeiiiiiiiiiineee e Pages 41-73

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 20 May 2019 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_Ih_emtn_b
ase_prospectus_dated 20 _may 2019.pdf) ..cceveeieiiriiinrese e Pages 42-73

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 20 May 2020* (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/terms_and_conditio
ns_from_previous_2020_prospectus.pdf)......ccccceverieriinivnivniisinieee s Pages 46-78

The terms and conditions of the base prospectus published by the relevant

Issuers and the Guarantor dated 4 August 2021* (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/holcim-2021-base-

ProSPECUS-ENTM.PAT) ...veeieiieieere e Pages 56-105

The terms and conditions of the Supplement n°3 dated 7 January 2022 to

the base prospectus published by the relevant Issuers and the Guarantor

dated 4 August 2021* (available at

https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/documents/holcim_2021_emtn_

supplement_N3_07012022.p0) ...cveriereiiierese e Pages 5-10

* Only those of the Incorporated Terms and Conditions marked with an asterisk are incorporated by reference
into this Prospectus for the purpose of its approval by the Swiss Review Body.

Such documents shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any statement
contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded for the
purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier
statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Any information contained in any of
the documents specified above which is not incorporated by reference in this Prospectus is either not relevant
to investors or is covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. Such documents shall also be made available, free of
charge, at the specified offices of the Fiscal Agent and each of the Paying Agents for the time being in

54


https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_14_may_2012.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_14_may_2012.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_14_may_2013.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_14_may_2013.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_18_may_2016.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_18_may_2016.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_19_may_2017.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_19_may_2017.pdf
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https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_17_may_2018.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_20_may_2019.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/tcs_from_lh_emtn_base_prospectus_dated_20_may_2019.pdf
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/terms_and_conditions_from_previous_2020_prospectus.pdf
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Luxembourg, or in respect of Notes to be publicly offered in Switzerland and/or admitted to trading and listed
on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in
Switzerland) at the specified offices of the Swiss principal paying agent, during usual business hours on any
weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted), and will also be available to view on the website
of each Issuer (www.holcim.com/bond-documents-emtn) and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.bourse.lu). In addition, copies of such documents may be obtained from each Issuer free of charge upon
request by contacting its registered office or e-mailing investor.relations@holcim.com.

55


http://www.holcim.com/bond-documents-emtn
http://www.bourse.lu/
mailto:investor.relations@lafargeholcim.com

ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

In relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL (including but not limited to Notes which are publicly offered in
Switzerland and/or with respect to which an application will be made for admission to trading on the SIX Swiss
Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland)) only, the
following sections of the following documents, which have previously been published or are published
simultaneously with this Prospectus and have been filed with the Swiss Review Body, are hereby incorporated
by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus. Such documents will not be published on the website of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The tables below set out the relevant page references for the information incorporated herein by reference in
relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL only. The information incorporated by reference in this section does not
form part of the Prospectus approved by the CSSF under the Prospectus Regulation and thus is not subject to
Article 19 of the Prospectus Regulation and has neither been approved nor reviewed by the CSSF.

In relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL only, this Prospectus should also be read and construed in conjunction
with:

Information incorporated by reference from Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/holcim/files/atoms/files/holcim_helvetia_finance_Itd_financial_stateme
nts_2021.pdf)

Report of the Statutory AUAITOr.........cccovevereiere e Pages 2-3
KeY INFOrMAtioN .......ocuviice e Page 4
Statement 0f INCOME......coiiiii e Page 5
Statement of financial POSItION.........ccocveiericre e, Page 6
Notes to the Financial Statements...........cccooieiiiiiiiinieceec e Pages 7-11

Proposal of the board of directors regarding the appropriation of retained
BAIMINGS ¢ vvvveiveeteereete e ste s e s e e re et e e te st e steareasaeees b e seesaesteaneesee e eseseesrenrenneaneas Page 12

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 (available at
https://www.holcim.com/sites/lafargeholcim.com/files/atoms/files/lafargeholcim_helvetia_finance_ltd
_-_audit_report_2020_signed.pdf)

Report of the Statutory Auditor on the Financial Statements....................... Pages 2-3
Company HighlightS .........ccoviiiiiiie e Page 4
Statement 0f INCOME......coiiiii Page 5
Statement of financial POSItION.........cccvcvveieiiiie e Page 6
Notes to the financial Statements..........coceiiiiiiiii i Pages 7-10

Proposal of the board of directors regarding the appropriation of retained
BAININGS 1. vevveiteereeeeste e ste s e s e e e e e e e testesteareesee e essestesaestesneeseeseenaeneesrenreaneaneas Page 11

In relation to Notes to be issued by HHFL only, such documents shall be incorporated by reference in, and form
part of, this Prospectus, save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference
herein shall be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained
herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any
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statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this
Prospectus. Any information contained in any of the documents specified above which is not incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus is either not relevant to investors or is covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. Such
documents shall also be made available, free of charge, at the specified offices of the Swiss principal paying
agent, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted), and
will also be available to view on the website of HHFL (www.holcim.com/bond-documents-emtn). In addition,
copies of such documents may be obtained in electronic or hard copy form from HHFL free of charge upon
request by contacting its registered office or e-mailing investor.relations@holcim.com.
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

The Obligors have given an undertaking to the Dealers that, in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus
Regulation, if at any time during the duration of the Programme there is a significant new factor, mistake or
material inaccuracy relating to information contained in this Prospectus which is capable of affecting the
assessment of any Notes whose inclusion would reasonably be required by investors for the purpose of making
an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the
Obligors and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Obligors shall prepare a prospectus supplement or publish a
replacement Prospectus approved by the CSSF for use in connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes
and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of such supplement hereto or replacement Prospectus,
as the case may be, as such Dealer may reasonably request.

In addition, the Obligors have given an undertaking to the Dealers that, to the extent required by article 56 of
the FinSA and articles 63 to 67 of the FinSO, they shall prepare a prospectus supplement or publish a
replacement Prospectus approved (to the extent required by article 56(4) of the FinSA) by the Swiss Review
Body for use in connection with any subsequent public offering of Notes to be issued by a Swiss Issuer in
Switzerland and/or application for admission to trading of Notes to be issued by a Swiss Issuer on the SIX
Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility) in Switzerland) and shall
supply to each Dealer such number of copies of such supplement hereto or replacement Prospectus, as the case
may be, as such Dealer may reasonably request.

58



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in accordance with the
provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any)
issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or Global Certificate(s) representing each Series. In relation to Notes
to be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (or any other trading venue (exchange or multilateral trading facility)
in Switzerland) only, the following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in
accordance with and modification by the provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable
to the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or Global Certificate(s)
representing each Series. Either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant
provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed (and subject
to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on
the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions
will have the meanings given to them in Part A of the relevant Final Terms. Those definitions will be endorsed
on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case may be. References in these Conditions to “Notes’ are to the
Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

This Note is one of a series (“Series”) of Notes issued by, as specified hereon, Holcim Finance (Luxembourg)
S.A., Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim Finance US LLC, Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd, Holcim
Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. or Holcim Ltd (each an “Issuer” and, together, the “Issuers”) and, in the
case of Notes issued by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim
Finance US LLC, Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or Holcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V., guaranteed by
Holcim Ltd (in such capacity, the “Guarantor”). The Issuers and the Guarantor are together referred to as the
“Obligors”.

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the
“Agency Agreement”) dated 3 August 2022 between the Obligors, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as fiscal
agent and the other agents named in it and with the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (as amended or supplemented
as at the Issue Date, the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 3 August 2022 executed by the Obligors in relation to the
Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the
time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which
expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the “Registrar”, the “Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation
Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined below) and the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating
to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further
Coupons (the “Talons™) (the “Couponholders”) are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the
Agency Agreement applicable to them. References herein to the “Notes” shall be references to the Notes of this
Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and guarantee (as amended or supplemented as at the
Issue Date, the “Guarantee”) dated 3 August 2022 executed by the Guarantor are available for inspection at
the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”, which expression includes Notes that are specified to be
Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form (“Registered Notes”) or in bearer form exchangeable for
Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer Notes”) in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) shown
hereon. Holcim Finance US LLC may only issue Registered Notes.

59



All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Where Exchangeable Bearer Notes are
issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same Specified Denomination as
the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, a combination of any of the
foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon.

Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached,
save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due
after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition
2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall
pass by registration in the register that the Relevant Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance
with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as ordered by a court of competent
jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed
to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of
any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its
theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note or the person in whose name a
Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), “holder” (in relation to a Note, Coupon or Talon) means the
bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as
the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such
meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

Each Tranche of Notes denominated in Swiss francs (““Swiss Franc Notes’”) will be represented exclusively by
a Permanent Global Note which will be deposited with SIX SIS AG (““SIS™), or such other intermediary
(Verwahrungsstelle) in Switzerland that is recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIS or
such other intermediary, the “Intermediary”) on or prior to the original issue date of such Tranche. As a matter
of Swiss law, once the Permanent Global Note has been deposited with the Intermediary and entered into the
accounts of one or more participants of the Intermediary, the Swiss Franc Notes represented thereby will
constitute intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Intermediated
Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz) (“Intermediated Securities”). The Permanent Global Note will be
exchangeable for definitive Notes in whole but not in part only if the Swiss principal paying agent should, after
consultation with the Issuer, deem the printing of definitive Notes to be necessary or useful, or if the presentation
of definitive Notes is required by Swiss or other applicable laws and regulations in connection with the
enforcement of rights of Noteholders, or if the Swiss principal paying agent at any time at its discretion
determines to have definitive Notes issued; holders of Swiss Franc Notes will not have the right to effect or
demand the conversion of the Permanent Global Note representing such Swiss Franc Notes into, or delivery of,
Notes in definitive or uncertificated form. If definitive Notes are delivered, the relevant Permanent Global Note
will be immediately cancelled by the Swiss principal paying agent and the definitive Notes shall be delivered to
the relevant holders against cancellation of the relevant Swiss Franc Notes in such holders’ securities accounts.

As a matter of Swiss law, a holder of an interest in the Permanent Global Note retains a quotal co-ownership
interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the Permanent Global Note to the extent of the Notes represented by such
Permanent Global Note in which such holder has an interest; provided, however, that, for so long as the
Permanent Global Note remains deposited with the Intermediary (i.e., for so long as the Notes represented
thereby constitute Intermediated Securities), the co-ownership interest is suspended and the Notes represented
thereby may only be transferred by the entry of the transferred Notes in a securities account of the transferee.
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For so long as Notes constitute Intermediated Securities, as a matter of Swiss law, (i) the records of the
Intermediary will determine the number of Notes held through each participant of the Intermediary and (ii) the
holders of such Notes will be the persons holding such Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in
their name or, in the case of intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen)
holding such Notes for their own account in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name (and the
expressions “Noteholder”” and ““holder of Notes™ and related expressions used herein shall be construed
accordingly).

Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

(@)

(b)

(©

Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes

Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same
nominal amount of Registered Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and upon
surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured Coupons and
Talons relating to it, at the specified office of any Transfer Agent; provided, however, that where an
Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date (as defined in Condition
7(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that payment of interest need not be
surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one
Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.
Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

Transfer of Registered Notes

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred,
together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially
in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise
agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer
Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes
represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part
transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be
issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the
detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations
may be changed, insofar as they relate to the Notes, by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the
Registrar and the Noteholders. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar
to any Noteholder (and, in respect of Notes admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, any member of the public) upon request.

Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes

In the case of an exercise of an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of, or a partial redemption of,
a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the
holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In
the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having
different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have
the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already
a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued
against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.
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(d)

©

()

Delivery of New Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2(a), (b) or (c) shall be available for delivery
within seven business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice
(as defined in Condition 6(e)) and surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new
Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case
may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice
or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as
aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or
otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate
to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the
relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs of such other method of delivery and/or
such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), “business day” means a day, other than a
Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the
relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

Exchange Free of Charge

Exchange and transfer of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, partial redemption or exercise
of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer
Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to
it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer
Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period of 30 days ending on the
due date for redemption of that Note, (ii) during the period of 30 days before any date on which Notes
may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such
Note has been called for redemption or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including)
any Record Date. An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for
one or more Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Certificate is simultaneously surrendered not
later than the relevant Record Date.

3  Guarantee and Status

(@)

(b)

Guarantee

The Guarantor has irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed, in accordance with the terms of Article
111 of the Swiss Code of Obligations of 30 March 1911, as amended, the due and punctual payment of
principal, interest and all other amounts payable by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US
Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim Finance US LLC, Holcim Helvetia Finance Ltd and Holcim
Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. under the Notes and Coupons as and when the same become due
under these Conditions. Its obligations in that respect are contained in, and are subject to the limitations
provided in, the Guarantee.

Status of Notes

The Notes and Coupons constitute direct, senior, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and with all
other present or future (subject as aforesaid) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer
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(other than obligations which are preferred by bankruptcy, liquidation or other similar laws of general
application).

Status of Guarantee

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional, (subject to Condition 4) unsecured and
unsubordinated obligation of the Guarantor ranking pari passu with all other present or future (subject
as aforesaid) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor (other than obligations which
are preferred by bankruptcy, liquidation or other similar laws of general application).

Negative Pledge

(@)

(b)

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), neither the Issuer nor
the Guarantor will create or have outstanding any mortgage, pledge, lien or other charge (“Security”)
upon the whole or any part of its undertaking or assets, present or future, to secure any Relevant
Indebtedness or any guarantee for or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness unless in any
such case at the same time the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes or the Guarantor’s obligations under
the Guarantee are secured by the same Security as is created or is outstanding in respect of such Relevant
Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined
in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders.

For the purposes of this Condition, “Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness in the form of,
or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other similar securities which are capable of being quoted,
listed or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other securities market and which has an
original maturity of at least one year from its date of issue.

Interest and other Calculations

(@)

(b)

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest,
such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 7.
The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(f).

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified hereon, the amount of interest payable on
each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken
Amount so specified and in the case of the Broken Amount will be payable on the particular Interest
Payment Date(s) specified hereon.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes
Q) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including)
the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the
Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as
provided in Condition 7. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with
Condition 5(f). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest
Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment
Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the
Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest
Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.
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(i)

(iii)

Business Day Convention

If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in
accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business
Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day
Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would
thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward
to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last
Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to
adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next
day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall
be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward
to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes

The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be
determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below relating to Screen Rate
Determination shall apply.

(@  Where “Applicable — Term Rate” is specified hereon as the method of Screen Rate
Determination and the relevant Reference Rate is not SONIA, SOFR, €STR or SARON
Compounded:

0] The Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject to Condition 5(m)
and as provided below, be either:

A. the offered quotation; or
B. the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate which appears
or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 11.00 a.m. Zurich
time in the case of EURIBOR on the Interest Determination Date in question as
determined by the Calculation Agent plus or minus (as indicated in the Final Terms)
the applicable Margin (if any). If five or more of such offered quotations are
available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one
such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is
more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be
disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic
mean of such offered quotations.

(1) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing
provisions of paragraph (1), the Rate of Interest shall be (i) that determined as at
the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a
different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the
relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding
Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest
relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum
or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period)
or (ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of
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Interest applicable to such Notes on the Interest Commencement Date (though
substituting, where a different Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be
applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last
preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate
of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Maximum
or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

(b)  Where “Applicable — Overnight Rate” is specified hereon as the method of Screen Rate
Determination and the relevant Reference Rate is SONIA, SOFR or €STR:

(1

Where the Calculation Method in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate
Notes is specified hereon as being “Compounded Daily”, the Rate of Interest for
each Interest Accrual Period will, subject to Condition 5(m) and as provided below,
be the Compounded Daily Reference Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the
applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), where:

“Compounded Daily Reference Rate” means, with respect to an Interest Accrual
Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment in the Specified
Currency (with the applicable Reference Rate (as indicated in the applicable Final
Terms and further provided for below) as the reference rate for the calculation of
interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party
responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms) on the Interest Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting
percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of
a percentage point (with halves being rounded up):

where:

“D” shall, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, be (i)
where “SONIA” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant
Reference Rate, 365; and (ii) where “SOFR” or “€STR” is specified in
the applicable Final Terms as the relevant Reference Rate, 360;

“d” is the number of calendar days in:

a. where “Lag” or “Lock-out” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Interest
Accrual Period; or

b. where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation
Period;

“do” is the number of Business Days in:

a. where “Lag” or “Lock-out” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Interest
Accrual Period; or
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b. where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation
Period;

i” is a series of whole numbers from one to d,, each representing the
relevant Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the
first Business Day in:

a. where “Lag” or “Lock-out” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Interest
Accrual Period; or

b. where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Observation
Period;

“Business Day”, in this Condition 5(b)(iii)(b)(I), means, (i) where
“SONIA” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant
Reference Rate, any day which is a London Banking Day; (ii) where
“SOFR” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant
Reference Rate, any day which is a U.S. Government Securities Business
Day and is not a legal holiday in New York and is not a date on which
banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required by law or
regulation to be closed; and (iii) where “€STR” is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the Reference Rate, any day which is a
TARGET Business Day;

“n;”, for any Business Day “i”, means the number of calendar days from
and including such Business Day “i” up to but excluding the following
Business Day;

“Observation Method” shall be as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Observation Period” means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period,
the period from and including the date falling “p” Business Days prior to
the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period (and the first
Observation Period shall begin on and include the date which is “p”
Business Days prior to the Issue Date) and ending on, but excluding, the
date which is “p” Business Days prior to the Interest Period Date for such
Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling “p” Business Days prior to

such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);
“p” means:

a. where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the number of Business Days included
in the Lag Look-back Period specified in the applicable Final
Terms (or, if no such number is specified five Business Days);
or

b. where “Observation Shift” is specified as the Observation
Method in the applicable Final Terms, the number of Business
Days included in the Observation Shift Period specified in the
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(1)

applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number is specified, five
Business Days);

“r” means in respect of the relevant Reference Rate:

a. where in the applicable Final Terms “Lag” or “Observation
Shift” is specified as the Observation Method, in respect of any
Business Day, the relevant Reference Rate in respect of such
Business Day; or

b. where in the applicable Final Terms “Lock-out” is specified as
the Observation Method:

1. in respect of any Business Day “i” that is a Reference Day,
the relevant Reference Rate in respect of the Business Day
immediately preceding such Reference Day, and

2. in respect of any Business Day “i” that is not a Reference
Day (being a Business Day in the Lock-out Period), the
relevant Reference Rate in respect of the Business Day
immediately preceding the last Reference Day of the
relevant Interest Accrual Period (such last Reference Day
coinciding with the Interest Determination Date);

ri” means the applicable Reference Rate as set out in the definition of
“r” above for:

a. where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the Business Day falling “p” Business

Days prior to the relevant Business Day “i”; or

b. where “Lock-out” or “Observation Shift” is specified as the
Observation Method in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant
Business Day “i”.

where the relevant Reference Rate is SONIA, SOFR or €STR and the Calculation
Method in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being “Weighted Average”, the Rate of Interest for each
Interest Accrual Period will, subject to Condition 5(m) and as provided below, be
the Weighted Average Reference Rate (as defined below) plus or minus (as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin and will be calculated by the
Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate
of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the Interest Determination
Date and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest one
hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), where:

“Weighted Average Reference Rate” means:

A. where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Final
Terms, the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rate in effect for each calendar
day during the relevant Observation Period, calculated by multiplying each
relevant Reference Rate by the number of calendar days such rate is in effect,
determining the sum of such products and dividing such sum by the number
of calendar days in the relevant Observation Period. For these purposes the
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Reference Rate in effect for any calendar day which is not a Business Day
shall be deemed to be the Reference Rate in effect for the Business Day
immediately preceding such calendar day; and

B. where “Lock-out” is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable
Final Terms, the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rate in effect for each
calendar day during the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculated by
multiplying each relevant Reference Rate by the number of days such rate is
in effect, determining the sum of such products and dividing such sum by the
number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, provided
however that for any calendar day of such Interest Accrual Period falling in
the “Lock-out Period”, the relevant Reference Rate for each day during that
Lock-out Period will be deemed to be the Reference Rate in effect for the
Reference Day immediately preceding the first day of such Lock-out Period.
For these purposes the Reference Rate in effect for any calendar day which is
not a Business Day shall, subject to the proviso above, be deemed to be the
Reference Rate in effect for the Business Day immediately preceding such
calendar day,

where:

“Business Day”, in this Condition 5(b)(iii)(b)(Il), means, (i) where
“SONIA” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant
Reference Rate, any day which is a London Banking Day; (ii) where
“SOFR” is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the relevant
Reference Rate, any day which is a U.S. Government Securities Business
Day and is not a legal holiday in New York and is not a date on which
banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required by law or
regulation to be closed; and (iii) where “€STR” is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the Reference Rate, any day which is a
TARGET Business Day;

“Observation Method” shall be as specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Observation Period” means, in respect of an Interest Accrual Period,
the period from and including the date falling “p” Business Days prior to
the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period (and the first
Observation Period shall begin on and include the date which is “p”
Business Days prior to the Issue Date) and ending on, but excluding, the
date which is “p” Business Days prior to the Interest Period Date for such
Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling “p” Business Days prior to
such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);
and

“p” means, where “Lag” is specified as the Observation Method in the
applicable Final Terms, the number of Business Days included in the Lag
Look-back Period specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such
number is specified five Business Days).

(111)  where the relevant Reference Rate is SONIA or SOFR and the Calculation Method
in respect of the relevant Series of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as being “Index Average”, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual
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Period will, subject to Condition 5(m) and as provided below, be the Compounded
Index Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin
(if any), where:

“Compounded Index Rate” means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, the
compounded daily reference rate for the relevant Interest Accrual Period,
calculated in accordance with the following formula and to the Relevant Decimal
Place, all as determined and calculated by the Calculation Agent on the Interest
Determination Date:

(Compounded Index End ) y (D)
d

Compounded Index Start B
where:

“D” shall, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, be
365 in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index and 360 in the case of
the SOFR Compounded Index;

“d” means the number of calendar days from (and including) the day on
which the relevant Compounded Index Start is determined to (but
excluding) the day on which the relevant Compounded Index End is
determined,;

“Business Day”, in this Condition 5(b)(iii)(b)(l11), means, (i) in the case
of SONIA Compounded Index, any day which is a London Banking Day;
and (ii) in the case of SOFR Compounded Index, any day which isa U.S.
Government Securities Business Day and is not a legal holiday in New
York and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are
authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed;

“Compounded Index” means (i) where “SONIA” is specified in the
applicable Final Terms as the relevant Reference Rate, SONIA
Compounded Index; or (ii) where “SOFR” is specified in the applicable
Final Terms as the relevant Reference Rate, SOFR Compounded Index;

“Compounded Index End” means the relevant Compounded Index
value on the day falling “p” Business Days prior to the Interest Payment
Date for such Interest Accrual Period, or such other date on which the
relevant payment of interest falls due (but which, by its definition or the
operation of the relevant provisions, is excluded from such Interest

Accrual Period);

“Compounded Index Start” means the relevant Compounded Index
value on the day falling “p” Business Days prior to the first day of the
relevant Interest Accrual Period;

“p” means the number of Business Days specified as the Compounded
Index Period in the applicable Final Terms (or, if no such number is
specified, five in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index and two in
the case of the SOFR Compounded Index); and

“Relevant Decimal Place” shall, unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Final Terms, be the fifth decimal place in the case of the
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(IV)

(V)

SONIA Compounded Index and the seventh decimal place in the case of
the SOFR Compounded Index, in each case rounded up or down, if
necessary (with 0.000005 or, as the case may be, 0.00000005 being
rounded upwards).

Provided that a Benchmark Event has not occurred in respect of SONIA
or SOFR, as the case may be, if, with respect to any Interest Accrual
Period, the relevant Compounded Index Start and/or Compounded Index
End is not published by the administrator, the Calculation Agent shall
calculate the Rate of Interest for that Interest Accrual Period in
accordance with Condition 5(b)(iii)(b)(1) as if “Index Average” was not
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being the Calculation Method.
For these purposes, (i) the Reference Rate shall be deemed to be SONIA
in the case of SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR in the case of
Compounded SOFR Index, (ii) the Calculation Method shall be deemed
to be Compounded Daily, (iii) the Observation Method shall be deemed
to be Observation Shift, (iv) the Observation Look-back Period shall be
deemed to be “p”, (v) D shall remain the same and (vi) in the case of
SONIA, the Relevant Screen Page will be determined by the Issuer in
consultation with the Calculation Agent. If a Benchmark Event has
occurred in respect of SONIA or SOFR, the provisions of Condition 5(m)
shall apply mutatis mutandis in respect of this Condition 5(b)(iii)(b)(I11).

Subject to Condition 5(m), where “SONIA” is specified as the relevant Reference
Rate in the applicable Final Terms and either (i) the Calculation Method is specified
hereon as being “Compounded Daily” or “Weighted Average”, or (ii) the
Calculation Method is specified hereon as being “Index Average” and Condition
5(b)(iii)(b)(1) applies, if, in respect of any London Banking Day, SONIA is not
available on the Relevant Screen Page, or has not otherwise been published by the
relevant authorised distributors, such Reference Rate shall be:

A. (i) the Bank of England’s Bank Rate (the “Bank Rate”) prevailing at close of
business on the relevant London Banking Day; plus (ii) the mean of the spread
of SONIA to the Bank Rate over the previous five days on which SONIA has
been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one
highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if
there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the
Bank Rate, or

B. if such Bank Rate is not available, the SONIA rate published on the Relevant
Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors)
for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA rate was
published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant
authorised distributors),

and in each case, “r” shall be interpreted accordingly.

Subject to Condition 5(m), where “SOFR” is specified as the relevant Reference
Rate in the applicable Final Terms and either (i) the Calculation Method is specified
hereon as being “Compounded Daily” or “Weighted Average”, or (ii) the
Calculation Method is specified hereon as being “Index Average” and Condition
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5(b)(iii)(b)(1) applies, if, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business
Day, SOFR is not available, such Reference Rate shall be the SOFR for the first
preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day on which the SOFR was
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of SOFR
(or any successor administrator of SOFR) on the website of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of SOFR) or any successor
source, and “r” shall be interpreted accordingly.

(V1) Subject to Condition 5(m), where “€STR” is specified as the relevant Reference
Rate in the applicable Final Terms, if, in respect of any TARGET Business Day,
€STRis not available, such Reference Rate shall be the €STR for the first preceding
TARGET Business Day on which €STR was published by the European Central
Bank, as the administrator of €STR (or any successor administrator of €STR) on
the website of the European Central Bank (or of any successor administrator of
such rate), and “r” shall be interpreted accordingly.

(VI1) In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the
foregoing provisions, but without prejudice to Condition 5(m), the Rate of Interest
shall be (i) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date
(though substituting, where a different Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or
Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period
from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin
or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant
Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or
Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period),
(ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date and the relevant
Interest Accrual Period is the first Interest Accrual Period for the Notes, the Initial
Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the
first Interest Accrual Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in
duration to the scheduled first Interest Accrual Period but ending on (and
excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin and any
Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the first
Interest Accrual Period), or (iii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination
Date and the relevant Interest Accrual Period is not the first Interest Accrual Period
for the Notes, the Rate of Interest which applied to the immediately preceding
Interest Accrual Period.

If the relevant Series of Notes becomes due and payable in accordance with
Condition 10, the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any
Interest Determination Date specified in the applicable Final Terms, be deemed to
be the date on which such Notes became due and payable and the Rate of Interest
on such Notes shall, for so long as any such Note remains outstanding, be that
determined on such date and as if (solely for the purpose of such interest
determination) the relevant Interest Accrual Period had been shortened
accordingly.

(c)  Where “Applicable — Overnight Rate” is specified hereon as the method of Screen Rate
Determination and the relevant Reference Rate is SARON Compounded:

()] The Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject to Condition 5(e),
if applicable, be SARON Compounded plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable
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Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined and calculated by the
Calculation Agent, where:

“SARON Compounded” means, with respect to an Interest Accrual Period, and
subject to the below and Condition 5(n), the rate calculated by the Calculation
Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the Interest Determination Date in
accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be
rounded, if necessary, to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded
upwards):

d

1—b[<1+SAR0Ni x ni> |, 360
360 d,

i=1
where:

“do” means the number of Zurich Banking Days in the relevant SARON
Observation Period,;

“dc” means the number of days in the relevant SARON Observation Period;

“i” indexes a series of whole numbers from 1 to dy, representing the Zurich Banking
Days in the relevant SARON Observation Period in chronological order from (and
including) the first Zurich Banking Day in such SARON Observation Period;

“ni” means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day i, the number of days from (and
including) such Zurich Banking Day i to (but excluding) the first following Zurich
Banking Day; and

“SARON;” means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day i in the relevant SARON
Observation Period, SARON in respect of such Zurich Banking Day i.

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined
terms shall have the meanings set out below:

“SARON” means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day:

A. the Swiss Average Rate Overnight for such Zurich Banking Day published by
or on behalf of the SARON Administrator on the SARON Administrator
Website at the Specified Time on such Zurich Banking Day; or

B. if such rate is not so published on the SARON Administrator Website at the
Specified Time on such Zurich Banking Day and a SARON Index Cessation
Event and a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date have not both occurred
at or prior to the Specified Time on such Zurich Banking Day, the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight published by or on behalf of the SARON
Administrator on the SARON Administrator Website for the last preceding
Zurich Banking Day on which the Swiss Average Rate Overnight was
published by the SARON Administrator on the SARON Administrator
Website; or

C. if such rate is not so published on the SARON Administrator Website at the
Specified Time on such Zurich Banking Day and a SARON Index Cessation
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Event and a SARON Index Cessation Effective Date have both occurred at or
prior to the Specified Time on such Zurich Banking Day,

(1)  if there is a SARON Recommended Replacement Rate within one
Zurich Banking Day of the SARON Index Cessation Effective Date,
the SARON Recommended Replacement Rate for such Zurich Banking
Day, giving effect to the SARON Recommended Adjustment Spread,
if any, published on such Zurich Banking Day; or

(2)  if there is no SARON Recommended Replacement Rate within one
Zurich Banking Day of the SARON Index Cessation Effective Date,
the policy rate of the Swiss National Bank (the “SNB Policy Rate”) for
such Zurich Banking Day, giving effect to the SNB Adjustment Spread,
if any; or

Notwithstanding the above, if the SNB Policy Rate for any Zurich Banking
Day with respect to which SARON is to be determined pursuant to sub-
clause (C)(2) above has not been published on such Zurich Banking Day, then
in respect of such Zurich Banking Day (the “Affected Zurich Banking Day”)
and each Zurich Banking Day thereafter, “SARON” will mean the
Replacement Rate, if any, determined in accordance with Condition 5(n).

“SARON Administrator” means SIX Index AG (including any successor
thereto) or any successor administrator of the Swiss Average Rate Overnight;

“SARON Administrator Website” means the website of the SIX Group, or
any successor website or other source on which the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight is published by or on behalf of the SARON Administrator;

“SARON Index Cessation Effective Date” means the earliest of:

A. in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation Event
described in clause (A) of the definition thereof, the date on which the
SARON Administrator ceases to provide the Swiss Average Rate
Overnight;

B. in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation Event
described in sub-clause (B)(1) of the definition thereof, the latest of:

(1) the date of such statement or publication;

(2) the date, if any, specified in such statement or publication as the date
on which the Swiss Average Rate Overnight will no longer be
representative; and

(3) ifaSARON Index Cessation Event described in sub-clause (B)(2) of
the definition thereof has occurred on or prior to either or both dates
specified in sub-clauses (1) and (2) of this clause (B), the date as of
which the Swiss Average Rate Overnight may no longer be used; and

C. in the case of the occurrence of a SARON Index Cessation Event
described in sub-clause (B)(2) of the definition thereof, the date as of
which the Swiss Average Rate Overnight may no longer be used.
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“SARON Index Cessation Event” means the occurrence of one or more of
the following events:

A. a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the
SARON Administrator, or by any competent authority, announcing or
confirming that the SARON Administrator has ceased or will cease to
provide the Swiss Average Rate Overnight permanently or indefinitely,
provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no
successor administrator that will continue to provide the Swiss Average
Rate Overnight; or

B. a public statement or publication of information by the SARON
Administrator or any competent authority announcing that (1) the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight is no longer representative or will as of a certain
date no longer be representative, or (2) the Swiss Average Rate Overnight
may no longer be used after a certain date, which statement, in the case of
sub-clause (2), is applicable to (but not necessarily limited to) fixed
income securities and derivatives.

“SARON Observation Period” means, in respect of an Interest Accrual
Period, the period from, and including, the date falling five Zurich Banking
Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period and ending on, but
excluding, the date which is five Zurich Banking Days prior to the Interest
Period Date for such Interest Accrual Period (or the date falling five Zurich
Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and
payable);

“SARON Recommended Adjustment Spread” means, with respect to any
SARON Recommended Replacement Rate, the spread (which may be
positive, negative or zero), or formula or methodology for calculating such a
spread:

A. that the SARON Recommending Replacement Rate Body has
recommended be applied to such SARON Recommended Replacement
Rate in the case of fixed income securities with respect to which such
SARON Recommended Replacement Rate has replaced the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight as the reference rate for purposes of determining
the applicable rate of interest thereon; or

B. if the SARON Recommending Replacement Rate Body has not
recommended such a spread, formula or methodology as described in
clause (A) above, to be applied to such SARON Recommended
Replacement Rate in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably
practicable under the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit
(as applicable) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Swiss
Average Rate Overnight with such SARON Recommended Replacement
Rate for purposes of determining SARON, which spread will be
determined by the Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner, and be consistent with industry-
accepted practices for fixed income securities with respect to which such
SARON Recommended Replacement Rate has replaced the Swiss
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Average Rate Overnight as the reference rate for purposes of determining
the applicable rate of interest thereon;

“SARON Recommended Replacement Rate” means the rate that has been
recommended as the replacement for the Swiss Average Rate Overnight by
any working group or committee in Switzerland organized in the same or a
similar manner as the National Working Group on Swiss Franc Reference
Rates that was founded in 2013 for purposes of, among other things,
considering proposals to reform reference interest rates in Switzerland (any
such working group or committee, the “SARON Recommending Replacement
Rate Body”);

“SARON Recommending Replacement Rate Body” has the meaning
assigned to such term in the definition of “SARON Recommended
Replacement Rate”;

“SNB Adjustment Spread” means, with respect to the SNB Policy Rate, the
spread to be applied to the SNB Policy Rate in order to reduce or eliminate, to
the extent reasonably practicable under the circumstances, any economic
prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to Noteholders as a result of the
replacement of the Swiss Average Rate Overnight with the SNB Policy Rate
for purposes of determining SARON, which spread will be determined by the
Calculation Agent, acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable
manner, taking into account the historical median between the Swiss Average
Rate Overnight and the SNB Policy Rate during the two year period ending on
the date on which the SARON Index Cessation Event occurred (or, if more
than one SARON Index Cessation Event has occurred, the date on which the
first of such events occurred);

“SNB Policy Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of
“SARON”;

“Specified Time” means, in respect of any Zurich Banking Day, close of
trading on the trading platform of SIX Repo Ltd (or any successor thereto) on
such Zurich Banking Day, which is expected to be on or about 6.00 p.m.
(Zurich time); and

“Zurich Banking Day” means a day on which banks are open in the City of
Zurich for the settlement of payments and of foreign exchange transactions.

If the Calculation Agent is required to use a SARON Recommended Replacement
Rate or the SNB Policy Rate pursuant to sub-clause (C)(1) or (C)(2) of the
definition of the term “SARON” for purposes of determining SARON for any
Zurich Banking Day, then:

A

if the Calculation Agent determines that changes to these Conditions and/or
the Agency Agreement are necessary in order to use such SARON
Recommended Replacement Rate (and any SARON Recommended
Adjustment Spread) or the SNB Policy Rate (and any SNB Adjustment
Spread), as the case may be, for such purposes, the Issuer will amend these
Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement without any requirement for the
consent or approval of Noteholders to reflect such changes; and
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B. the Issuer shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Fiscal Agent, the
Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders,
specifying the SARON Recommended Replacement Rate and any SARON
Recommended Adjustment Spread or any SNB Adjustment Spared, as
applicable, and the amendments, if any, implemented pursuant to (A) above.

Zero Coupon Notes

Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity
Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early
Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue
principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation
Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)).

Accrual of Interest

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation,
payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (as well after
as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the Relevant
Date (as defined in Condition 8).

Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest and Redemption Amounts and Rounding

(i) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then
any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as
the case may be.

(i)  For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise
specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to
the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all
figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all
currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency
(with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the
nearest yen. For these purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available
as legal tender in such currency.

Calculations

The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual
Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified hereon,
and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula
for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest
payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such
Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period
comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount
in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of
those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be
calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for
which interest is required to be calculated.
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(h)

Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Clean-Up Redemption
Price and Change of Control Redemption Amounts

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on each Interest Determination Date or such other
time such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount or make any
determination or calculation, determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant
Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional
Redemption Amount, Clean-Up Redemption Price, Change of Control Redemption Amount or
Acquisition Event Redemption Price, or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be,
and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant
Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Early
Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount, Clean-Up Redemption Price, Change of Control
Redemption Amount or any Acquisition Event Redemption Price to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the
Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of
the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are
listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, such
exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later
than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case
of notification to such exchange or, as the case may be, other relevant authority of a Rate of Interest and
Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the 4th Business Day after such determination.

Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition
5(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts, the Rate of Interest and the Interest Payment Date so published may
subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without
notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and
payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes
shall, subject in the case of the Compounded Daily Reference Rate, Weighted Average Reference Rate
and Compounded Index Rate to Condition 5(b)(iii), nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously
in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so
calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount and the making of each determination
or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding
upon all parties.

Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified hereon as applicable in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the
Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight
line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate, one of which
shall be determined as if the Applicable Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available
next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Accrual Period and the other of which shall be
determined as if the Applicable Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer
than the length of the relevant Interest Accrual Period provided however that if there is no rate available
for the period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

“Applicable Maturity” means the period of time designated in the Reference Rate.
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Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the
meanings set out below:

“€STR” means, in respect of any TARGET Business Day, a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-
term rate as provided by the European Central Bank, as the administrator of such rate (or any successor
administrator of such rate) on the website of the European Central Bank (or any successor administrator
of such rate) or any successor source, in each case, at the time specified by, or determined in accordance
with, the applicable methodology, policies or guidelines, of the administrator of such rate on the
TARGET Business Day immediately following such TARGET Business Day;

“Acquisition Event Redemption Price” means, in respect of any Note, its Final Redemption Amount
or such other amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Business Day” means:

(i) in the case of a currency other than Euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre
for such currency; and/or

(i) in the case of Euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET Business
Day™); and/or

(iii)  in the case of one or more Business Centres specified hereon, a day (other than a Saturday or a
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open
for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the
Business Centre(s);

“Clean-Up Redemption Price” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other
amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms which shall, where a Clean Up Event has
occurred following or as a result of redemption pursuant to Condition 6(d)(i) at the Make-Whole
Amount, be the Make-Whole Amount in respect of redemption pursuant to the Clean-Up Event;

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any
period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not
constituting an Interest Period or Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”):

() if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual — ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in
the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap
year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in
a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation
Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

(i) if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365;

(iii)  if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;

(iv) if “Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 360;

(v) if“30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:
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(vii)

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y2 - Y1)] + [30 X (Mo - Mq)] + (D2 - D1)

360
where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y3” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D;” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

“Dy” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D, is greater than 29, in which case

D, will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y5 - Y1)] + [30 x (M5 - Mq)]+ (D5 - Dq)

360
where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y,” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D,” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case Do will be 30;

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:
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(viii)

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y5 - Y1)] + [30 x (M5 - Mq)]+ (D5 - Dq)

360
where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y3” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“Ds” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“Dy” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or
(ii) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30;

if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified hereon,

(a)  if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which
it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the
number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods
normally ending in any year; and

(b) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:

(X)  the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period
in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally
ending in any year; and

(y)  the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination
Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year,

where:

“Determination Date” means the date(s) specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified,
the Interest Payment Date(s); and

“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any
year to but excluding the next Determination Date;

“Early Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount
as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single
currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended;
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“Initial Rate of Interest” means the initial Rate of Interest that is either specified hereon or calculated
in accordance with the provisions hereon;

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement
Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning
on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest
Period Date;

“Interest Amount” means:

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount
for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise
specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as
being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest
Accrual Period forms part; and

(i) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that
period;

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon;

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period,
the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual
Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London prior to
the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor Euro or (iii)
the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the
Specified Currency is Euro;

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and
ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and
including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment
Date;

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon;

“Lock-out Period” means the period from, and including, the day following the Interest Determination
Date to, but excluding, the corresponding Interest Period Date;

“London Banking Day” means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other
amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that
is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon;

“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular
information service as may be specified hereon (or any successor or replacement page, section, caption,
column or other part of a particular information service);
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“Reference Day” means each Business Day in the relevant Interest Accrual Period, other than any
Business Day in the Lock-out Period;

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon;

“SOFR” means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, a reference rate equal to
the daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as
provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of such rate (or any successor
administrator of such rate) on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor
administrator of such rate) or any successor source, in each case on or about 5.00 p.m. (New York City
Time) on the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately following such U.S. Government
Securities Business Day;

“SOFR Compounded Index” means, in respect of any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the
compounded daily SOFR rate, as published at 3.00 p.m. (New York City time) by the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, as the administrator of SOFR (or any successor administrator of SOFR) on the
website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of SOFR) or any
SUCCESSOr SoUrce;

“SONIA” means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling
Overnight Index Average rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA
to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen
Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors in each case on the London
Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day;

“SONIA Compounded Index” means, in respect of any London Banking Day, the compounded daily
SONIA rate as published by authorised distributors on the Relevant Screen Page on such London
Banking Day or, if the compounded daily SONIA rate cannot be obtained from such authorised
distributors, as published at 10.00 a.m. (London time) by the Bank of England (or a successor
administrator of SONIA) on the Bank of England’s Interactive Statistical Database, or any successor
source;

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency
in which the Notes are denominated,;

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer (known as TARGET 2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007 or any successor
thereto; and

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day on
which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association (or any successor thereto) recommends
that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in
U.S. government securities.

Calculation Agent

The Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that there shall at all times be one or more
Calculation Agents, in each case if provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is
outstanding. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in
these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its
respective duties under these Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such
or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to
calculate any Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional
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Redemption Amount, Clean-Up Redemption Price, Change of Control Redemption Amount or
Acquisition Event Redemption Price, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the
Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in
the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is
most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting
through its principal London office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such
in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed
as aforesaid.

Step Down Rating Change or Step Up Rating Change

(i) If Step Down Rating Change or Step Up Rating Change Event is specified hereon, the Rate of
Interest payable on the Notes will be the Initial Rate of Interest, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the Interest Ratchet (each such adjustment, a “Rate Adjustment”). Any Rate
Adjustment shall apply in respect of the Interest Period commencing on the Interest Payment
Date falling on or immediately following the date of the relevant Step Up Rating Change or Step
Down Rating Change, as the case may be, until either a further Rate Adjustment becomes
effective or the Maturity Date specified hereon, as the case may be.

(i)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition, there shall be no Rate Adjustment at any
time after notice of redemption has been given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(c) or 6(d).

(iii)  There shall be no limit on the number of times that a Rate Adjustment may be made pursuant to
this Condition during the term of the Notes, provided always that at no time during the term of
the Notes will the rate of interest payable on the Notes be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or
more than the Initial Rate of Interest plus the Step Up Margin specified hereon.

(iv)  Inthe event of a Rate Adjustment, any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest
specified hereon shall (in the event of a Step Up Rating Change) be increased by the Step Up
Margin specified hereon or (in the event of a Step Down Rating Change) be restored to the
Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest specified hereon, as the case may be.

(v)  The Issuer will cause the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Rate Adjustment pursuant to this
Condition to be notified to the Fiscal Agent and notice thereof to be given to Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible after the occurrence of the relevant event but
in no event later than the tenth business day thereafter.

In these Conditions:
“Interest Ratchet” means the following rates of interest:

(@  upon the occurrence of a Step Up Rating Change: the Initial Rate of Interest plus the Step Up
Margin specified hereon; and

(b)  upon the occurrence of a Step Down Rating Change: the Initial Rate of Interest;

“Investment Grade” means Baa3 (in the case of Moody’s Deutschland GmbH) or BBB- (in the case of
Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services France SAS) or the equivalent rating level of any other
Substitute Rating Agency or higher;

“Rating” means a rating of the Notes;

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Deutschland GmbH or Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services
France SAS or any of their respective successors or any rating agency (a “Substitute Rating Agency”)
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substituted for, or added to, any of them by the Issuer from time to time or any other rating agency
specified hereon;

“Step Down Rating Change” means the first public announcement after a Step Up Rating Change by
one or more Rating Agencies of an increase in the Rating with the result that none of the Rating Agencies
rate the Notes below Investment Grade (provided always that if less than two Rating Agencies maintain
a Rating at such time the Step Down Rating Change shall not occur until at least two Rating Agencies
have assigned or maintain an Investment Grade Rating); and

“Step Up Rating Change” means (i) the first public announcement by one or more Rating Agencies of
a decrease in the Rating to below Investment Grade or (ii) there ceasing to be a Rating assigned by at
least two Rating Agencies. For the avoidance of doubt, following a Step Up Rating Change, any further
decrease in the Rating by any Rating Agency or any further withdrawal of Rating shall not constitute a
further Step Up Rating Change.

Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event

This Condition 5(I) applies if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) or Sustainability-Linked
Trigger Event (Premium) is specified hereon (“Sustainability-Linked Notes”):

(i Subject to Condition 5(I)(vi) below, if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) is specified
hereon, for any Interest Period commencing on or after the Interest Payment Date immediately
following the occurrence of a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event, the Rate of Interest shall be
increased by the relevant Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin(s).

(i)  Subject to Condition 5(I)(vi) below, if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Premium) is
specified hereon and a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event occurs, the Issuer shall pay to the
holder of each Note an amount equal to the relevant Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount(s)
on the relevant Sustainability-Linked Premium Payment Date.

(iii)  If a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event has occurred, the Issuer shall give notice of such
Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event and (x) if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) is
specified hereon, the relevant Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin(s); or (y) if Sustainability-
Linked Trigger Event (Premium) is specified hereon, the relevant Sustainability-Linked Premium
Amount(s), to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as reasonably practicable
following the publication of the SPT Verification Assurance Certificate for the year ending on the
Target Observation Date in accordance with Condition 5(1)(v), if applicable, and in any event such
notice shall be given to Noteholders not later than the date falling 5 business days (as defined in
Condition 10) prior to the relevant Sustainability-Linked Reference Date.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) an increase in the Rate of Interest may occur no more than once in
respect of any Series of Sustainability-Linked Notes as a result of a Sustainability-Linked Trigger
Event irrespective of whether such Sustainability-linked Trigger Event has one or more than one
Target Observation Date (or, if more than one Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event is specified
hereon, no more than once as a result of each Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event irrespective of
whether such Sustainability-linked Trigger Event has one or more than one Target Observation
Date), (ii) no more than one Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount shall be payable as a result
of a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event irrespective of whether such Sustainability-linked Trigger
Event has one or more than one Target Observation Date (or, if more than one Sustainability-
Linked Trigger Event is specified hereon, no more than one Sustainability-Linked Premium
Amount shall be payable as a result of each Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event irrespective of
whether such Sustainability-linked Trigger Event has one or more than one Target Observation
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(iv)

v)

(vi)

Date), (iii) if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) is specified hereon, no Sustainability-
Linked Premium Amount shall be payable as a result of a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event,
and (iv) if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Premium) is specified hereon, no increase in the
Rate of Interest shall occur as a result of a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event.

For each fiscal year ending on 31 December from and including the fiscal year during which the
Issue Date of any Sustainability-Linked Notes falls up to and including the fiscal year ending on the
Target Observation Date(s) in respect of such Notes, Holcim Ltd will publish on its website a
Sustainability Performance Report or other document (each such report or other document, a
“Sustainability Performance Report”), which shall disclose (i) (a) the Carbon Intensity of the
Group (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified hereon); and/or (b)
the Specific Freshwater Withdrawal of the Group (where Sustainability Performance Target
(Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) is specified hereon), in each case as of 31 December in each year
and as determined by Holcim Ltd in accordance with these Conditions; and (ii) if applicable, the
occurrence of any Recalculation Event and the related amended Sustainability Performance
Baseline(s) resulting from the occurrence of any such Recalculation Event. Each such Sustainability
Performance Report shall include or be accompanied by a limited assurance report issued by the
External Verifier (a “Limited Assurance Report”). Each Sustainability Performance Report and
related Limited Assurance Report will be published no later than the date of publication of Holcim
Ltd’s audited consolidated financial statements for the relevant year and the statutory auditor’s
report thereon; provided that to the extent Holcim Ltd determines that additional time will be
required to complete the relevant Sustainability Performance Report and/or related Limited
Assurance Report, then such Sustainability Performance Report and related Limited Assurance
Report shall be published as soon as reasonably practicable, but in no event later than 60 days after
the date of publication of the relevant statutory auditor’s report.

For the fiscal year ending on the relevant Target Observation Date, Holcim Ltd will publish on
its website a verification assurance certificate by the External Verifier (such report, the “SPT
Verification Assurance Certificate™), which shall confirm whether the Group has achieved the
relevant Sustainability Performance Target on the relevant Target Observation Date and specify
whether any amendments or recalculations were made following the occurrence of a
Recalculation Event (if any). The SPT Verification Assurance Certificate will be published no
later than the date of publication of Holcim Ltd’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the fiscal year ending on the relevant Target Observation Date and the statutory auditor’s report
thereon; provided that to the extent Holcim Ltd determines that additional time will be required
for the External Verifier to complete the relevant SPT Verification Assurance Certificate then the
SPT Verification Assurance Certificate shall be published as soon as reasonably practicable, but
in no event later than the date falling 5 business days (as defined in Condition 10) prior to the
relevant Sustainability-Linked Reference Date.

In the event that more than one Target Observation Date is specified hereon, the following
provisions shall apply:

(x) if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Interest) is specified hereon and if a Sustainability-
Linked Trigger Event occurs in relation to the first Target Observation Date (or the corresponding
Sustainability-Linked Reference Date) relating to the relevant Sustainability Performance Target,
the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period commencing on or after the Interest Payment Date
immediately following the occurrence of such Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event shall be as
determined by Condition 5(1)(i) in respect of such Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event only;
provided that if the Group achieves the relevant Sustainability Performance Target on a
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(vii)

subsequent Target Observation Date such addition of Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin in
respect of the relevant Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event only shall cease to apply in
accordance with Condition 5(1)(i) for each Interest Period commencing on or after the Interest
Payment Date immediately following such subsequent Target Observation Date.

(y) if Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Premium) is specified hereon and if a Sustainability-
Linked Trigger Event occurs on the first Target Observation Date relating to the relevant
Sustainability Performance Target, the Issuer shall pay to the holder of each Note an amount as
determined by Condition 5(I)(ii) in respect of such Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event only,
provided that if the Group achieves the relevant Sustainability Performance Target(s) on a
subsequent Target Observation Date, the Issuer shall not be required to pay any such
Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount in respect of such Sustainability Performance Target(s)
unless the Issuer fails to meet the relevant Sustainability Performance Targets on a subsequent
Target Observation Date and such Sustainability Performance Targets are not reached on the last
Target Observation Date prior to the Maturity Date.

In this Condition:

“Carbon Intensity” means the amount of net carbon dioxide emitted (scope 1) by Holcim Ltd
and its subsidiaries taken as a whole (the “Group”) in kilograms per ton of cementitious material,
as determined in good faith by Holcim Ltd and published in a Sustainability Performance Report
in accordance with Condition 5(1)(iv);

“External Verifier” means any independent accounting or appraisal firm or other independent
expert of internationally recognised standing appointed by Holcim Ltd, in each case with the
expertise necessary to perform the functions required to be performed by the External Verifier
under these Conditions, as determined by Holcim Ltd;

“Recalculation Event” means the occurrence of (i) a significant change to the structure of the
Group; or (ii) a significant change in methodology in calculation of Carbon Intensity (where
Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified hereon) and/or Specific
Freshwater Withdrawal (where Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater
Withdrawal) is specified hereon)) that requires a recalculation of Carbon Intensity (where
Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified hereon) and/or Specific
Freshwater Withdrawal (where Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater
Withdrawal) is specified hereon) for any reporting year (including, for the avoidance of doubt,
any past reporting year), in each case as determined in good faith by Holcim Ltd;

“Specific Freshwater Withdrawal” means, for cement sites, the volume of freshwater
withdrawn by the Group from:

A. surface water (being water from rivers, lakes and natural ponds);

B. groundwater (including, but not limited to, water from wells and boreholes);
C. quarry water used (being water collected in the quarry and used on-site); and
D. municipal/potable and third-party water,

used for the production of clinker and cement and expressed in litres per ton of cementitious
material, as determined in good faith by Holcim Ltd and published in a Sustainability
Performance Report in accordance with Condition 5(I)(iv);
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“Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount” means the Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount
(Carbon Intensity) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified
hereon) or the Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) (where
Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) is specified hereon) as
indicated in the applicable Final Terms and, each such premium amount, the “relevant
Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount”;

“Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount (Carbon Intensity)” is the amount specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount (Carbon Intensity);

“Sustainability-Linked Premium Amount (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” means the
amount specified in the applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Premium
Amount (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal);

“Sustainability-Linked Premium Payment Date” is the date specified in the applicable Final
Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Premium Payment Date;

“Sustainability-Linked Reference Date” means the Sustainability-Linked Reference Date
(Carbon Intensity) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified hereon)
or the Sustainability-Linked Reference Date (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) (where
Sustainability Performance Target (Specified Freshwater Withdrawal) is specified hereon), as
specified hereon on and, each such date, the “relevant Sustainability-Linked Reference Date”;

“Sustainability-Linked Reference Date (Carbon Intensity)” is the date specified in the
applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Reference Date (Carbon Intensity);

“Sustainability-Linked Reference Date (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” is the date
specified in the applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Reference Date
(Specific Freshwater Withdrawal);

“Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin” means the Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin
(Carbon Intensity) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified
hereon) or the Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) (where
Sustainability Performance Target (Specified Freshwater Withdrawal) is specified hereon), as
specified hereon and, each such margin, the “relevant Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin”;

“Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin (Carbon Intensity)” means the amount specified in
the applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin (Carbon Intensity);

“Sustainability-Linked Step Up Margin (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” means the
amount specified in the applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability-Linked Step Up
Margin (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal);

“Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event” means the occurrence of (i) a Sustainability-Linked
Trigger Event (Carbon Intensity) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is
specified hereon) and/or (ii) a Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Specific Freshwater
Withdrawal) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Specified Freshwater Withdrawal) is
specified hereon), and each such event, the “relevant Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event”;

“Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Carbon Intensity)” means either (i) the Group does not
achieve the Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) on the Target Observation Date as
determined by the External Verifier and confirmed in the SPT Verification Assurance Certificate,
(i) Holcim Ltd has not published the SPT Verification Assurance Certificate on or before the date
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falling 5 business days (as defined in Condition 10) prior to the relevant Sustainability-Linked
Reference Date (Carbon Intensity), or (iii) the SPT Verification Assurance Certificate contains a
reservation about whether or not the Sustainability Performance Target has been achieved on the
Target Observation Date;

“Sustainability-Linked Trigger Event (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” means either (i) the
Group does not achieve the Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)
on the Target Observation Date as determined by the External Verifier and confirmed in the SPT
Verification Assurance Certificate, (ii) Holcim Ltd has not published the SPT V\rification
Assurance Certificate on or before the date falling 5 business days (as defined in Condition 10)
prior to the relevant Sustainability-Linked Reference Date (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal), or
(iii) the SPT Verification Assurance Certificate contains a reservation about whether or not the
Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) has been achieved on the
Target Observation Date;

“Sustainability Performance Baseline” means the Sustainability Performance Baseline
(Carbon Intensity) (where Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity) is specified
hereon) and/or the Sustainability Performance Baseline (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)
(where Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal) is specified
hereon), as specified hereon and each such target, the “relevant Sustainability Performance
Baseline”;

“Sustainability Performance Baseline (Carbon Intensity)” means the Carbon Intensity
expressed in kilograms of net carbon dioxide per ton of cementitious material for the reporting year
2018, being 576 kilograms of net carbon dioxide per ton of cementitious material, as initially
reported in the Sustainability Performance Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 and as may
be amended in good faith by the relevant Issuer from time to time following the occurrence of a
Recalculation Event and, if so amended, published in a Sustainability Performance Report in
accordance with Condition 5(I)(iv);

“Sustainability Performance Baseline (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” means the Specific
Freshwater Withdrawal expressed in litres of freshwater per ton of cementitious material for the
reporting year 2018 (based on the scope of consolidation of the Group as at 31 December 2020),
being 317 litres of freshwater per ton of cementitious material, as initially reported in the
Sustainability Performance Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 and as may be amended
in good faith by the relevant Issuer from time to time following the occurrence of a Recalculation
Event and, if so amended, published in a Sustainability Performance Report in accordance with
Condition 5(1)(iv);

“Sustainability Performance Target” means the Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon
Intensity) and/or the Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal), as
specified hereon and each such target, the “relevant Sustainability Performance Target”;

“Sustainability Performance Target (Carbon Intensity)” means a reduction of Carbon
Intensity from the Sustainability Performance Baseline (Carbon Intensity) equal to or higher than
the percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms as being the Sustainability Performance
Target (Carbon Intensity);

“Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal)” means a reduction of
Specific Freshwater Withdrawal from the Sustainability Performance Baseline (Specific
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(m)

Freshwater Withdrawal) equal to or higher than the percentage specified in the applicable Final
Terms as being the Sustainability Performance Target (Specific Freshwater Withdrawal); and

“Target Observation Date” means the date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms as being
the Target Observation Date.

Benchmark discontinuation (General)

Notwithstanding the provisions above in Condition 5(b), if (i) “SARON Compounded” is not specified
as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms, and (ii) a Benchmark Event occurs in
relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any component thereof) remains to
be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions of this
Condition 5(m) shall apply.

(i)

(i)

Independent Adviser

The Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an Independent
Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a view to the Issuer determining a Successor
Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 5(m)(ii)(a)) and, in either
case, an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition

5(m)(iv)).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(m) shall act in good faith and in
a commercially reasonable manner as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence
of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the
Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, or the Noteholders for any advice given to the Issuer in
connection with any determination made by the Issuer, pursuant to this Condition 5(m).

If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Issuer fails to determine a
Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 5(m)
prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next
succeeding Interest Accrual Period shall be determined using the Original Reference Rate last
displayed on the Relevant Screen Page or, if no such Relevant Screen Page is so specified in the
relevant Final terms, last available (as the case may be) prior to the relevant Interest
Determination Date. Where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to
be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding
Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the
relevant Interest Accrual Period shall be substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or
Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period. For the
avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Interest Accrual
Period only and any subsequent Interest Accrual Periods are subject to the subsequent operation
of, and to adjustment as provided in the first paragraph of, this Condition 5(m).

Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner, determines that:

A there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread
shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate
of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of interest on
the Notes (subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 5(m)); or
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(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

B. there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate
and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original
Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof)
for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the subsequent operation of this
Condition 5(m)).

Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread)
shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). If the Issuer,
following consultation with the Independent Adviser is unable to determine the quantum of, or a
formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or
Alternative Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread
is determined in accordance with this Condition 5(m) and the Issuer, following consultation with
the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner,
determines (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary
to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case)
the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the “Benchmark Amendments”) and (ii)
the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof
in accordance with Condition 5(m)(v), without any requirement for the consent or approval of
Noteholders, vary these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement to give effect to such
Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(m)(iv), the Issuer shall
comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or
admitted to trading.

Notices, etc.

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any
Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 5(m) will be notified promptly by the
Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with
Condition 14, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective
date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any and will be binding on the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent,
the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 5(m)(i) to (v), the Original
Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(b) will continue to apply
unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred.

Definitions
As used in this Condition 5(m):

“Adjustment Spread” means (i) where the Original Reference Rate is not SOFR, Adjustment
Spread (General); or (ii) where the Original Reference Rate is SOFR, Adjustment Spread (SOFR).
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“Adjustment Spread (General)” means either (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or
zero) or (b) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the
Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or
methodology which:

(M in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement
of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating
Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate)

(i)  the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is customarily applied to the relevant
Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital
markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original
Reference Rate; or (if the Issuer determines that no such spread is customarily applied)

(iii)  the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is recognised or acknowledged as being
the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions or is in customary
market usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the
Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the
Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

“Adjustment Spread (SOFR)” means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can
be determined by the Issuer:

(1)  the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment
(which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended
by the Relevant Governmental Body for the Successor Rate (SOFR) or Alternative Rate
(SOFR) (as the case may be);

(2)  ifthe applicable Successor Rate (SOFR) is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, then the
ISDA Spread Adjustment; or

(3)  the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) determined by
the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith
and a commercially reasonable manner, giving due consideration to any industry accepted
spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for
the replacement of the then-current SOFR with the applicable Successor Rate (SOFR) or
Alternative Rate (SOFR) (as the case may be) for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate
notes at such time.

“Alternative Rate” means (i) where the Original Reference Rate is not SOFR, Alternative Rate
(General); or (ii) where the Original Reference Rate is SOFR, Alternative Rate (SOFR).

“Alternative Rate (General)” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer,
following consultation with the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with Condition
5(m)(ii) is customarily applied in the international debt capital markets transactions for the
purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) and in the same
Specified Currency as the Notes.

“Alternative Rate (SOFR)” means the alternate rate that has been selected by the Issuer,
following consultation with the Independent Adviser in accordance with Condition 5(m)(ii), as
the replacement for the then-current SOFR for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due
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consideration to any industry-accepted rate as a replacement for the then-current SOFR for U.S.
dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time.

“Benchmark Amendments” has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(m)(iv).
“Benchmark Event” means:

(1) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 Business
Days or ceasing to exist; or

(2)  apublic statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it has ceased
or that it will cease to publish the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in
circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue
publication of the Original Reference Rate); or

(3)  apublic statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate
that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely
discontinued; or

(4)  apublic statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate
as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used
either generally, or in respect of the Notes; or

(5)  the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original
Reference Rate that, with effect from a date after 31 December 2021, the Original
Reference Rate is or will be (or is or will be deemed by such supervisor to be) no longer
representative of its relevant underlying market; or

(6) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other
party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original
Reference Rate;

provided that the Benchmark Event shall be deemed to occur (a) in the case of sub-paragraphs
(2) and (3) above, on the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate or
the discontinuation of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, (b) in the case of sub-
paragraph (4) above, on the date of or the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate, and
(c) in the case of sub-paragraph (5) above, on the date with effect from which the Original
Reference Rate will no longer be (or will be deemed by the relevant supervisor to no longer be)
representative of its relevant underlying market and which is specified in the relevant public
statement, and, in each case, not the date of the relevant public statement.

The occurrence of a Benchmark Event shall be determined by the Issuer and promptly notified to
the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agents. For the avoidance of doubt,
neither the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agents shall have any
responsibility for making such determination.

“Corresponding Tenor” with respect to a SOFR Benchmark Replacement means a tenor
(including overnight) having approximately the same length (disregarding business day
adjustment) as the applicable tenor for the then-current SOFR.

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an
independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition

5(m)(i).
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“ISDA” means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by ISDA or any successor
thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for
interest rate derivatives published from time to time.

“ISDA Fallback Rate” means the rate to be effective upon the occurrence of a SOFR Index
Cessation Event according to (and as defined in) the ISDA Definitions, where such rate may have
been adjusted for an overnight tenor, but without giving effect to any additional spread adjustment
to be applied according to such ISDA Definitions.

“ISDA Spread Adjustment” means the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or
determining such spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that shall
have been selected by ISDA as the spread adjustment that would apply to the ISDA Fallback
Rate.

“Original Reference Rate” means the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable) used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or a committee officially endorsed or convened by
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, or any successor.

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

(M the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable)
relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for
supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or

(i) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at
the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate
(as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is
responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory
authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

“Successor Rate” means (i) where the Original Reference Rate is not SOFR, Successor Rate
(General); or (ii) where the Original Reference Rate is SOFR, Successor Rate (SOFR).

“Successor Rate (General)” means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate
which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

“Successor Rate (SOFR)” means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be
determined by the Issuer:

(1) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant
Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current SOFR for the applicable
Corresponding Tenor; or

(2)  the ISDA Fallback Rate.
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(n)

Replacement Rate (SARON)

Notwithstanding the provisions above in Condition 5(b)(iii)(c), if (i) “SARON Compounded” is
specified as the relevant Reference Rate in the applicable Final Terms, and (ii) the conditions set out in
the last paragraph of the definition of “SARON” have been satisfied, then the following provisions of
this Condition 5(n) shall apply.

(M)

The Issuer will appoint a “Replacement Rate Agent” on or prior to the first Zurich Banking Day
(A) with respect to which the Reference Rate is to be determined pursuant to this Condition
5(n)(i), and (B) for which the SNB Policy Rate has not been published thereon. The Issuer may
appoint any person as Replacement Rate Agent, so long as such person is a leading bank or
financial institution that is experienced in the calculations and determinations to be made by the
Replacement Rate Agent. The Issuer will notify the Noteholders of any such appointment in
accordance with Condition 14.

The Replacement Rate Agent will determine whether to use an alternative rate to SARON for the
Affected Zurich Banking Day and for all subsequent Zurich Banking Days in the SARON
Observation Period in which the Affected Zurich Banking Day falls (the “Affected SARON
Period”) and all SARON Observation Periods thereafter. If the Replacement Rate Agent
determines to use an alternative rate pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence, it shall
select such rate that it has determined is most comparable to the Swiss Average Rate Overnight
(the “Existing Rate”), provided that if it determines that there is an appropriate industry-accepted
successor rate to the Existing Rate, it shall use such industry-accepted successor rate.

If the Replacement Rate Agent has determined an alternative rate in accordance with the
foregoing (such rate, the “SARON Replacement Rate™), for purposes of determining the Rate
of Interest, (1) the Replacement Rate Agent shall determine (x) the method for obtaining the
SARON Replacement Rate, including the page, section or other part of a particular information
service on or source from which the SARON Replacement Rate appears or is obtained (the
“Replacement Rate Source”), and the time at which the SARON Replacement Rate appears on,
or is obtained from, the Replacement Rate Source (the “Replacement Rate Specified Time”),
(y) whether to apply an Adjustment Spread (SARON) to the SARON Replacement Rate and, if
so, the Adjustment Spread (SARON), which Adjustment Spread (SARON) shall be recognised
or acknowledged as being in customary market usage in international debt capital markets
transactions that reference SARON, where such rate has been replaced by the SARON
Replacement Rate, and (z) any alternative method for determining the SARON Replacement Rate
if such rate is unavailable on the relevant Zurich Banking Day, which alternative method shall be
consistent with industry-accepted practices for the SARON Replacement Rate, (2) for the
Affected Zurich Banking Day and all subsequent Zurich Banking Days in the Affected SARON
Period and all SARON Observation Periods thereafter, references to “SARON” in these
Conditions shall be deemed to be references to the SARON Replacement Rate (giving effect to
any Adjustment Spread (SARON) determined pursuant to (1)(y) above and including any
alternative method for determining the SARON Replacement Rate as described in (1)(z) above),
(3) if the Replacement Rate Agent determines that changes to these Conditions and/or the Agency
Agreement are necessary in order to implement the SARON Replacement Rate as SARON, the
Issuer will amend these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement without any requirement for
the consent or approval of Noteholders to reflect such changes, and (4) the Issuer shall give notice
as soon as practicable to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in
accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders, specifying the SARON Replacement Rate, as
well as the details described in (1) above, and the amendments, if any, implemented pursuant to
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(i)

(iii)

(3) above. Any determination to be made by the Replacement Rate Agent pursuant to this
Condition 5(n)(i), including any determination with respect to a rate or adjustment or of the
occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain
from taking any action or any selection, will be made in the sole discretion of the Replacement
Rate Agent acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

If the Issuer is unable to appoint a Replacement Rate Agent or the Replacement Rate Agent
appointed by the Issuer fails to determine a SARON Replacement Rate in accordance with
Condition 5(n)(i), (A) the Reference Rate applicable to the Affected Zurich Banking Day shall
be the SNB Policy Rate determined as at the last Zurich Banking Day preceding the Affected
Zurich Banking Day, and (B) the Reference Rate for all succeeding Zurich Banking Days in the
Affected SARON Period and for all Zurich Banking Days in the SARON Observation Periods
thereafter will be the SNB Policy Rate applicable to the Affected Zurich Banking Day as
determined in accordance with this Condition 5(n)(ii) unless the Issuer, in its sole discretion,
elects to determine a SARON Replacement Rate in respect of any such succeeding Zurich
Banking Day and all Zurich Banking Days thereafter in accordance with the processes set out in
Condition 5(n)(i) and a SARON Replacement Rate is so determined.

Definitions
As used in this Condition 5(n):
“Affected Zurich Banking Day” has the meaning given in the definition of “SARON".

“Adjustment Spread (SARON)” means, with respect to any SARON Replacement Rate, a
spread (which may be positive or negative) or a formula or methodology for calculating any such
spread applied to such SARON Replacement Rate in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent
reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to
Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Existing Rate with such SARON Replacement
Rate.

6 Redemption, Purchase and Options

(@)

(b)

Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below each Note shall be finally
redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which shall, other

than in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, be its nominal amount).

Early Redemption

0]

Zero Coupon Notes

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(¢) or
upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised
Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified
hereon.

(B)  Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any
such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity
Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation
Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised
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Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their
issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.

(C)  Ifthe Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption
pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and
payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount
due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note
as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect
as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date.
The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall
continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the
Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and
payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity
Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the
basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

(i)  Other Notes

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i)
above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition
6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final
Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment
Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) or, at any time, (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note) on
giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be
irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above) (together with
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, if any), if (i) the Issuer (or, if the Guarantee were called,
the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in
Condition 8 or the Guarantee, as the case may be, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the
laws or regulations of the relevant Tax Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8) or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or
official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or
after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes, and (ii) such
obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable
measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days
prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to
pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes (or the Guarantee, as the case may
be) then due. Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer
shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as
the case may be) stating that the Relevant Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a
statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Relevant Issuer so to redeem
have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the
Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts
as a result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this
Condition 6(c), the Issuer shall redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(c).
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(d)

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

(M)

(i)

If Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60
days’ irrevocable notice (the “Call Option Notice”) to the Noteholders (or such other notice
period as may be specified hereon) redeem all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any
Optional Redemption Date (save that, if Make-Whole Amount is specified as the Optional
Redemption Amount, such Optional Redemption Date must be more than 90 days prior to the
Maturity Date). Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount
specified hereon (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b)
above)) together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption. Any such
redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum
Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum
Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in
such notice in accordance with this Condition.

If Make-Whole Amount is specified hereon as the Optional Redemption Amount, the Optional
Redemption Amount per Note shall be equal to the higher of the following, in each case together
with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date:

(A)  the nominal amount of the Note; and

(B)  the nominal amount of the Note multiplied by the price (as reported in writing to the Issuer
by a financial adviser (the “Financial Adviser”) appointed by the Issuer) expressed as a
percentage rounded to the next higher one ten-thousandth of a percentage point (0.0001
per cent.) at which the Gross Redemption Yield on the Notes on the Determination Date
is equal to the Gross Redemption Yield at the Quotation Time specified hereon on the
Determination Date specified hereon of the Reference Bond specified hereon (or, where
the Financial Adviser advises the Issuer that, for reasons of illiquidity or otherwise, such
Reference Bond is not appropriate for such purpose, such other government stock as such
Financial Adviser may recommend) plus any applicable Redemption Margin specified
hereon.

Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum
Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption
Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

(iii)

(iv)

If Clean-Up Event is specified hereon and immediately prior to the giving of the notice referred
to below, a Clean-Up Event has occurred, then the Issuer may, subject to having given not fewer
than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Fiscal Agent and the Noteholders (which notice shall
be irrevocable), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at any time or, if the Note is a Floating
Rate Note, on any Interest Payment Date, at their Clean-Up Redemption Price specified hereon
(which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)) together
with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption. Upon the expiry of such
notice, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes.

If Acquisition Event Call Option is specified hereon and an Acquisition Event occurs, the Issuer
may, on giving notice promptly, and in any event not more than 60 days after the occurrence of
such Acquisition Event and not more than 30 nor fewer than 15 days before the date fixed for
redemption, to the Fiscal Agent and the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem
all or some of the Notes at their Acquisition Event Redemption Price together with interest
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accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption. Upon the expiry of such notice the Issuer
shall redeem the relevant Notes.

The Issuer may, at any time prior to the giving of a redemption notice as provided above, waive
its right to redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(d)(iv) by giving notice to the
Fiscal Agent and the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable).

If Acquisition Event Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall not be entitled, during a
period of twelve (12) months following the exercise by the Issuer of such Acquisition Event Call
Option in respect of less than all of the Notes, to redeem Notes at their Clean-Up Redemption
Price in accordance with Condition 6(d)(iii).

In the case of a partial redemption, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers
of the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered
Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn
in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of
prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other
relevant authority requirements.

In this Condition:

“Acquisition Event” shall be deemed to occur if (i) on or prior to the Acquisition Event deadline
specified in the Final Terms the Guarantor (or a subsidiary of the Guarantor) has not completed the
Relevant Acquisition or (ii) the Guarantor has publicly stated that it no longer intends to pursue the
Relevant Acquisition, where “Relevant Acquisition” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms.

“Clean-Up Event” shall be deemed to occu